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Fenner is a world leader in reinforced polymer technology.

Our strategy is to increase market share and target new
value added product areas.

We will continue to concentrate on growing those
businesses where we already demonstrate leadership
through our skills in applications, design, materials
technology and dedication to customer service as well as
by carefully planned acquisitions.

G r o w i n g
P a r t n e r s h i p s
W o r l d w i d e

Contents

1 Financial Highlights

2 Chairman’s Statement

5 Business Review - Chief
Executive Officer’s Review

1 3 Business Review - Group
Finance Director’s Review

1 6 Business Review - Definition of
Key Performance Indicators Used 

1 7 The Board

1 8 Corporate Governance

2 3 Corporate Responsibility Report

2 7 Board Remuneration Report

3 4 Directors’ Report

3 8 Independent Auditors’ Report

3 9 Group Financial Statements

7 6 Independent Auditors’ Report
- Company

7 7 Company Financial Statements

8 2 Five Year Summary of the Group

8 3 Annual General Meeting
Advisors
Financial Calendar



F i n a n c i a l  H i g h l i g h t s

F e n n e r  P L C    1

2008 % increase
£m on 2007

Revenue 437.8 +15%

Operating profit before amortisation of intangible assets acquired 
and exceptional items 49.3 +26%

Operating profit 43.8 +15%

Profit before taxation 36.3 +8%

Adjusted earnings per share before amortisation of intangible assets 
acquired and exceptional items 17.5p +16%

Basic earnings per share 15.5p +3%

Dividend per share 6.6p +6%



A y e a r  o f  s t r o n g
o r g a n i c  a n d
a c q u i s i t i v e  g r o w t h

C h a i r m a n ’ s  S t a t e m e n t

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
Revenue increased to £437.8m (2007
£380.8m), driven by robust activity levels in
both divisions and acquisitive growth of
£18.5m. The Conveyor Belting ("CB")
Division experienced high levels of demand
in its major markets against a backdrop of
buoyant global coal markets. In the
Advanced Engineered Products ("AEP")
Division, overall high activity levels and
strong performances from the acquired
businesses were marginally tempered by
some softer markets in our Precision
Polymers businesses.

Operating profit before amortisation of
intangible assets acquired and exceptional
items increased to £49.3m (2007 £39.0m),
with the contribution from acquisitions
amounting to £4.1m.

Exceptional items of £3.4m (2007 £0.2m)
principally related to the costs associated
with the expansion of the heavyweight
conveyor belting business in North America
and the profit on disposal of its non-core
lightweight PVC conveyor belting operation. 

Operating profit was £43.8m (2007 £38.2m).
Net finance costs increased to £7.5m (2007
£4.6m) as a result of higher borrowings
relating to the Group’s strategic expansion.

The headline and underlying tax rates were
29% and 30% respectively. Adjusted
earnings per share before amortisation of
intangible assets acquired and exceptional
items was 17.5p per share (2007 15.1p).
Basic earnings per share amounted to 15.5p
per share (2007 15.0p).

Net cash from operations generated £45.7m
(2007 £53.3m) and included an investment
in working capital of £8.2m associated with
growth, with working capital ratios
maintained at prior year levels. Investing
activities amounted to £104.2m (2007
£35.4m), in accordance with our strategic
expansion plans. In part, this expansion was
funded by £35.4m of equity raised in March
2008 through the placing of 15.7m ordinary
shares. Net debt was £97.6m (2007
£36.3m), in line with expectations despite an
increase of £10.9m relating to the translation
of foreign currency borrowings. Interest
cover was 6.8 times (2007 8.9 times).

The Board is recommending a final dividend
of 4.4p per share which gives a total
distribution for the year of 6.6p per share
(2007 6.225p), a 6% increase on 2007.

ACQUISITIONS AND INVESTMENT
It is most encouraging to report on the major
growth initiatives around the Group. The
implementation of our strategic plan has
been successful with seven businesses
acquired during the year and one disposal.
After the year end, two further acquisitions
were completed. This reflects our plans
indicated in our share placing which was
announced in March 2008.

In November 2007, B-LOC in the US was
acquired by AEP for an initial consideration
of £4.4m with future contingent deferred
consideration estimated at £0.6m at the year
end. Its products extend and complement
our existing range of high value added,
proprietary drive solutions.

I am delighted to report on a year of strong organic and acquisitive growth. The

number of new businesses acquired has been unprecedented. These have performed

well in the period from acquisition and their contribution, when combined with

excellent results from our existing operations, has led to a 26% increase in operating

profit before amortisation of intangible assets acquired and exceptional items.
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In December 2007, Spliceline in Australia
was acquired by CB, expanding our service
coverage in the Northern Territory. The initial
consideration was £0.7m with £0.2m
deferred to a later period. 

In February 2008, Prodesco, Inc in the US
was acquired by AEP for an initial
consideration of £24.2m and estimated
contingent deferred consideration at the year
end of £8.1m, over a five year period.
Prodesco, Inc comprises two businesses;
Prodesco and Secant Medical. Prodesco
produces a range of highly specialised
woven, knitted and braided fabrics which are
used in the industrial, aerospace and
chemical sectors. Secant Medical
specialises in the design, development and
manufacture of complex implantable fabrics
for the medical device industry. The
acquisition enhances our core expertise in
textile engineering and provides an exciting
opportunity to expand our product portfolio
into a growth segment of the medical market.

In March 2008, Winfield Industries in the US
was acquired by AEP for £6.9m. Winfield is a
leading supplier of performance critical
rollers for digital imaging applications and is
a natural fit with our Precision business.

Also in March, our geographical coverage in
South Australia was enhanced when
Northern Belting Specialists Pty Ltd was
acquired by CB for £2.3m. The business
specialises in belt splicing, rubber lining,
mechanical and technical servicing and
belting sales.

In April 2008, the business of King Energy
Services in New Mexico, US was acquired
by CB for £2.9m followed in August 2008 by
the acquisition of the business of King
Energy Services in Colorado, US for £3.5m.
These businesses, which are now integrated
into Fenner Dunlop Conveyor Services,
enable us to offer a full service capability in
the south west mining region of the US.

Our non-core lightweight PVC conveyor
belting business in the US was divested in
July 2008 for £5.0m excluding costs.

Post year end, in October 2008, the Group
acquired the businesses of the Conveyor

Services Corporation group of companies,
including Loadout Services, principally
located across the US, with a majority
interest in Conveyor Services, SA in Chile,
and Solid Systems Engineering, LLC in
Wyoming. The total initial consideration was
£31.0m with estimated contingent and
deferred consideration payable of £22.0m
(based on the exchange rates at the dates of
completion). These acquisitions extend the
range and scope of services offered to our
customers and represents an important
further step towards our goal of building a
world class mining service operation which
makes Fenner Dunlop Conveyor Services the
leader in its field in the Americas.

Our organic capital investment programmes
advanced during the year. The integration of
our seals business in Houston onto a single
site was completed ahead of schedule whilst
our major projects in the CB Division
continued to progress and will contribute to
operational performance in 2009.

OPERATIONS
The CB Division’s result was strong as
demand levels benefited from buoyant
mining conditions in its major markets. In
Asia Pacific, the continuing expansion and
wider geographical coverage enabled us to
further develop our product and service
offerings. In Europe, the focus on developing
new markets and leveraging our strong
Dunlop brands was rewarded with higher
volumes. In North America, demand
remained high while some anticipated
margin decline was evident in the latter
months of the year as raw material costs
increased significantly. The growth of our
service businesses through the acquisitions
completed to date has enhanced our
capability to offer a complete engineered
solution to our customers. 

The AEP Division traded well, overcoming
uncertainty and some softer markets in the
Precision Polymers businesses. Our newly
acquired businesses performed strongly and
assisted in the penetration of growth
markets. The Advanced Sealing
Technologies businesses made solid
progress with continuing strength in the oil
and gas and mining sectors.
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PEOPLE
The success of the Group is due to the talent
and dedication of colleagues around the
world. On behalf of the Board, I would like to
extend my gratitude and appreciation for
their continuing support.

OUTLOOK
We enter the new year with healthy order
books for our CB businesses. Despite the
temporary disruption from Hurricane Ike, our
AEP businesses started with similar sales
levels to the end of last year.

There has been a limited initial impact on us
from the global financial crisis but we are of
course alert to the wider economic effects
that are generally expected. These are more
likely to be seen in industrial markets
although the niche nature of our businesses
and the diversity of our markets provide
additional strength and resilience. The
energy markets remain buoyant with a
positive outlook, particularly for coal,
notwithstanding the recent reduction in the
prices of commodities. The majority of our
products and services are consumable
supplies and are therefore driven by usage
rather than the price of commodities.
Accordingly the output for these remains
robust.

Despite the inevitable challenges, we believe
we are very strongly placed to out-perform.
For the longer term, our business drivers
remain highly positive.

Colin Cooke
Chairman
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INTRODUCTION
This Business Review sets out the strategic
objectives of the Group and its businesses,
as well as a review of progress in 2008, the
outlook for 2009 and beyond and an
assessment of the key risks and
uncertainties. 

During the past year Fenner has
strengthened its position as a world leader
in reinforced polymer technology through
both acquisition and organic investment.
The aim of the Fenner businesses is to
deliver high quality, value added products
and services to our customers. Wherever
possible we operate in niche markets which
enable the operations to avoid the highly
competitive, low margin commodity end of
the markets in which we operate. This
common aim enables Fenner to deliver a
solid basis for long term growth, stability
and shareholder value. Fenner is proud to
be a world class global manufacturer
operating in key territories in established
and emerging markets.

The Fenner Group consists of two Divisions,
the Conveyor Belting (“CB”) Division and the
Advanced Engineered Products (“AEP”)
Division.  

The CB Division is a recognised world
leader in the global conveyor belting market,
concentrating on heavyweight ply, solid
woven and steel cord conveyor belting for
mining, power generation and industrial
applications. During the year, it has been
expanding its service offering through
organic growth and acquisitions to satisfy its
customers' requirements from belt order to
installation and maintenance. The
lightweight non-rubber conveyor belting
operation, based in Charlotte, North
Carolina, was sold to Forbo Seigling, Inc (a
major force in that market) and, although we
divested manufacturing capability, strong
strategic links remain.

The AEP Division is divided into five product
group based businesses which are
managed on a global basis. These
businesses are as follows:
• Fenner Precision, which is a leading

supplier of performance critical polymer
components to the office automation
industry;

• Fenner Drives, which designs,
manufactures and sells an extensive
range of bespoke solutions for mechanical
power transmission and motion transfer
applications;

• The supply of silicone and EPDM
speciality hoses for the diesel engine,
truck, bus and off-road equipment OEM
market, trading as James Dawson;

• Fenner Advanced Sealing Technologies
("FAST") comprising hydraulic and
pneumatic seals for the global fluid power
industry, trading as Hallite and bespoke
sealing products for process applications
including oil and gas, electronics, pumps,
valves, compressors and aerospace
applications, trading as CDI/EGC; and

• Technical textiles, trading as Prodesco
and Secant Medical. 

Prodesco, Inc together with its subsidiary
Secant Medical, LLC, acquired in February
2008, not only brought a complementary
industrial textile business but also satisfied a
long term goal of entering into niche medical
applications which provide further exciting
opportunities for AEP.

Both CB and AEP provide high quality,
comprehensive, whole life value products for
their customers, and both have a strong
brand and reputation in their chosen
markets. These characteristics are
considered to be key to the success of the
Group over its long history. Customer
satisfaction is of importance to all business
units, who ensure they are meeting their
customer expectations which are specific to
each market. Performance measurements

“After a year of strategic investment the Group is strongly positioned to face the

challenges of economic circumstances.” 

Mark Abrahams - Chief Executive Officer

R o b u s t  a n d
r e s i l i e n t

B u s i n e s s  R e v i e w
C h i e f  E x e c u t i v e  O f f i c e r ’ s  R e v i e w
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include customer surveys and “on time in
full” performance.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES
It has been a very exciting year for the
Group with organic investment and
acquisition activity in both Divisions which
expand the product ranges, geographic
coverage, routes to market, service offering
and market shares. The investments and
acquisitions ensure Fenner continues to
grow its reputation as a specialist polymer
engineering company and help it maintain
profitability throughout the economic cycle.

The acquired Secant Medical business is
the ideal custom manufacturing partner for
the most demanding medical device
engineering challenges. Working with
partners, both large and small, its
experience with specialised biocompatible
medical textile structures is aimed to help
bring new biomedical device ideas to
market. Prodesco produces highly
specialised technical fabrics for
performance critical applications in
industrial, aerospace and chemical
equipment markets. The Prodesco and
Secant Medical businesses will remain
autonomous operations within the Group. 

The other acquisitions for AEP were B-LOC
and Winfield Industries. B-LOC, which has
been fully integrated into the Fenner Drives
business of AEP in Manheim, is a leading
supplier of multi-screw keyless bushings and
complements the existing Fenner Drives
range. It has opened up channels to market
for both the historical Fenner Drives and
B-LOC products. Winfield Industries is
recognised as a leading supplier of
performance critical rollers for digital imaging
applications and allows Fenner Precision to
gain access to the rapidly growing market for
digital printing presses. With a significant
market share in the mature inkjet market, this
acquisition enables Fenner Precision to offer
an unrivalled range of technical capability,
products and experience to the global office
automation market. 

The seals manufacturing operation in
Houston completed the major factory
expansion ahead of schedule. Not only did it
successfully integrate the EGC business into
the new facility on budget but also out-
performed the plan throughout the process.
The improved layout and investment in
equipment has seen efficiencies and margins
improve at the combined facility, which is now
state of the art, and provides the springboard
for further growth and market diversification

from this dynamic business with strong
advanced materials capabilities.

The FAST operations in China continue to do
well and additional manufacturing lines have
been relocated from the Hampton site to
China ahead of plan. The Hampton seals
operation was highly successful in securing
new and additional business which enabled
it to grow, notwithstanding the transfer of
business to China. Other strategic initiatives
progressed well during the year. These
included the geographical expansion of
markets serviced with sales, technical and
customer service teams recruited in China
and Brazil and strengthened service teams
across the globe. 

The CB operations in Australia have
received both major organic and acquisition
investment. A planned investment in a new
steel cord facility is now underway in Perth,
Western Australia. This facility is located to
service the fast growing iron ore sector of
the Australian economy which, together with
coal, are the main trading and export
sectors for Australia. There have also been
strategic acquisitions of service businesses
in Darwin and Whyalla which service the
Northern Territories and the multi-mineral ore
bodies in South Australia respectively. These
have added to the successful Fenner
Dunlop Conveyor Services business already
operating in Australia. Leading with a focus
on safety, the expertise and strength of the
service team and management continues
the strategy to maintain the broadest
national coverage in Australia and to ensure
that the operation is well placed to take
advantage of opportunities in the regions
with significant mining growth.

The success of the service model in
Australia is being leveraged in the Americas
with the acquisitions of King Energy
Services in Colorado, King Energy Services
in New Mexico, the Conveyor Services
Corporation group of companies and Solid
Systems Engineering. These businesses will
form the backbone of the Fenner Dunlop
Conveyor Services business for North
America. Work is underway to integrate
these businesses into the Group. Not only is
Fenner Dunlop Conveyor Services the
largest belt servicing business focused on
the mining industry but the locations of our
branches also align with those of our
customers. The strength of the service
business will support the wider product
offering from the expanded Fenner Dunlop
Americas manufacturing operation. Further,
experience suggests the service business is
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counter cyclical to belt sales, helping to
ensure that the CB operation has some
protection from market cycles.

CB has also invested in a significant number
of manufacturing plants with the continuation
of the investment in the North American
plants in Port Clinton and Toledo together
with the construction of a purpose built,
bespoke weaving operation in Hart County,
Georgia. These new facilities will improve
flexibility and efficiencies in both production
and energy consumption and reduce waste.
As well as extending the product range,
capacity constraints of prior years,
particularly for steel cord belting, will also be
eased. Coupled with our new plant, the
service business acquisitions mean that
Fenner Dunlop Americas not only
manufactures the full range of products
required by our customers but also has
locations close by, offering comprehensive
service and support.

Investment in the South African operation
was also completed in the year with the
installation of a steel cord line to enable it to
supply both the domestic and export
markets. Following investment in the
previous year, China saw the introduction of
a range of Dunlop branded belts,
successfully targeted at broadening the
customer base. 

As a diversified Group, Fenner uses a wide
range of materials, from traditional cotton
yarns to the latest perfluoroelastomers. Not
only do we use significant volumes of some
materials, we also work closely with selected
suppliers to ensure that our customers
benefit from the latest technical
developments in materials and processes.
Most of these relationships are in the normal
course of business, ensuring quality,
continuity of supply and reasonable
commercial terms. Where appropriate, and
usually relating to technical developments,
relationships are formally documented.

CONVEYOR BELTING
Most of the CB operations experienced
positive trading conditions through the year
under review although all faced a variety of
challenges including the effects of volatile raw
material prices and availability, competitive
threats and availability of skilled labour.
Capacity constraints of prior years have been
addressed and, where new constraints have
arisen, are being addressed with the result
that the operations are well placed to defend
their position in the markets.

The global demand for bulk commodities
including iron ore, copper, potash and the
demand for power, in the form of coal,
helped to ensure that the global CB
operations had a strong year with increased
demand and improved return on sales,
particularly in Europe, Australia and China.
North American operations had strong order
books through the year but were impacted
somewhat by pricing constraints and raw
material price volatility. Price increases are
being implemented where possible and the
operations work closely with suppliers and
customers to help facilitate and build on the
strong relationships in the supply chain.

Volume constraints have driven
internationally traded coal prices to an all
time high, as shown in the McCloskey graph
below. Over the last three years coal prices
have remained comfortably over the
“trigger” value at which coal companies buy
belt. The volume of coal being mined
continues to increase as demand for energy
in China, India and South East Asia remains
strong, together with a desire in the US to be
independent from energy suppliers,
particularly for oil. Globally, coal resources
are located in less politically fragile markets.
Whilst prices have probably peaked, the
volume demand for coal remains bullish and
the long term outlook remains good.

With the additional steel cord capacity, other
minerals, particularly iron ore, become more
important to Fenner and, almost without
exception, volumes and prices have been
strong throughout the year.

ADVANCED ENGINEERED PRODUCTS
All operations within AEP aim to provide
high value added solutions to their
customers’ needs using advanced
polymeric materials, expertise in application
design, effective manufacturing design skills
and timely delivery.  

F e n n e r  P L C    7
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Raw material price increases and the rising
cost of energy were a feature of trading
throughout the year, driven by the increase
in commodity prices. Flexible pricing
strategies with customers enabled many of
these costs to be recovered. The focus
remains on performance critical products
which are not selected on price alone but
the value they add to the customer.

FAST continued with its recent strong
performance and achieved yet another
record year of growth. Continuing demand
for seals used in oil, gas and mining
applications remains robust but there has
also been an increase in demand for
products used in general hydraulic and
aerospace applications. The roll out of the
Six Sigma continuous improvement
programme continued across all locations
with the result that lead times and availability
improved significantly during the year. FAST
remains committed to its geographical
expansion of markets served to include Asia
and South America. Some product areas are
expected to be impacted by the slowdown
in the economy, principally seals used in the
semiconductor industry, processing
equipment and seals for hydraulic
equipment used in the construction industry.
Any weakening of demand is expected to
be compensated for by the initiatives that
have been put in place to grow the business
overall.

The James Dawson hose business finished
the year well despite some unforeseen
adverse impacts of VAT changes in China.
Demand levels were good for the first three
quarters of the year but slowed in the final
quarter as the effects of the downturn in the
construction industry impacted on the
off-road equipment market. The outlook for
the construction industry is not expected to
improve in 2008/09. The operation in China
continues to grow in strength and capability
as domestic Chinese manufacturers seek to
redesign engines and vehicles to comply
with emissions legislation which was
enacted in China in the summer of 2008.

Fenner Precision completed the acquisition
of Winfield Industries in March 2008 and
quickly integrated the global sales and
marketing activities of both businesses so
that the consolidated sales force is focused
on cross selling products. This has resulted
in new opportunities for growth being
identified.  Fenner Precision enjoyed strong
demand from the ATM sector as well as the
commercial digital printing market but there
was some shortfall from the consumer

related office automation sector. Growth is
expected to resume in 2008/09, led by the
digital printer market demand.

Fenner Drives integrated the acquired
B-LOC business and produced excellent
results with synergies from the acquisition
being achieved during the year. Sales
increased rapidly in targeted markets as a
result of the investments made during the
prior two years. The business continues to
develop and market a growing range of
innovative, proprietary products which solve
problems in the motion control, power
transmission and unit handling markets. The
general industrial markets are feeling the
effects of the economic slowdown,
particularly in the latter stages of the year
under review, and this trend is expected to
continue into the first half of the new
financial year.

The Prodesco and Secant Medical
businesses have yet to complete a full year
within the Fenner Group but early indications
are very positive and the cultural fit with AEP
is excellent. They produced encouraging
results in the half year they have been
owned by Fenner. A strategic review of the
business was carried out during the year to
help identify future growth and development.
Secant Medical is believed to be cushioned
from the effects of the slowing economy
because its growth is largely driven by the
demographics of an ageing population. The
Prodesco business is exposed to the
industrial and aerospace markets.

The AEP division will continue to look for
growth opportunities and to build upon its
considerable strengths and overall is
making good progress against the current
strategic plan.

OUTLOOK
Given the global financial crisis, we continue
to monitor very closely all relevant aspects
of our business including credit, customer
and supplier stability and raw material price
volatility. Although commodity prices are
weakening, the volume demand remains
strong and it is volume rather than price
which leads to consumption of our products.
The niche nature of our businesses provides
significant additional strength in times of
uncertainty.

EMPLOYEES
Fenner continues to benefit from a stable,
skilled and committed workforce in both our
acquired and existing businesses and we
acknowledge the importance of our
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employees’ contribution to the performance
of the Group. All businesses have processes
that require high levels of skill and technical
expertise. Many of the end products are
used in safety critical applications, perhaps
epitomised by the Secant Medical
substrates, and therefore a skilled and
motivated workforce is essential to maintain
product safety, reliability and quality.

Average employee numbers rose to over
3,900 and so employment costs continue to
have significant impact on profitability.
Productivity is therefore a key factor to
success. Due to the increasing diversity of
our operations, productivity for the Group as
a whole is best measured by total sales per
employee. 

The graph shows that sales per employee
have risen, reflecting the investment in new
buildings and production facilities
outweighing the growth in our service
businesses which generate lower sales per
employee than manufacturing businesses.

Major Group milestones and developments
are reported to all employees through our in
house magazine “Fenner Focus”, together
with matters of operational significance.
Fenner Focus is published four times a year
and is supplemented by most operations
with their own newsletter highlighting local
achievements and initiatives.     

HEALTH AND SAFETY
“The Group is absolutely committed to
ensuring that all employees can work safely
at all times. This overriding commitment to
provide a safe and secure working
environment extends to those employees of
other companies working on our behalf, as
well as customers, visitors and neighbours
who may be affected by our activities.”

The above quote is the opening of the
revised Health & Safety Policy adopted by
the Board in June 2008. In addition to
restating the priority given to health and
safety, the policy introduces a management
framework which is a mechanism which

preserves the autonomy of the operations
whilst setting challenging and detailed
expectations which they must strive to
achieve. The full policy is available on our
web site.

During the year, one location achieved
OHSAS 18000 accreditation and Hampton
won a second RoSPA health and safety
Gold award. Six other operations are
working toward external recognition of their
health and safety systems.

Many of our employees work on customers'
sites and job safety assessments are
mandatory prior to work commencing. For
these businesses, our health and safety
management systems are a significant
unique selling proposition. Accidents and
near misses are recorded and reviewed
operationally and safe systems of work
updated if necessary. Accidents involving
lost time are reported through divisional
management and up to the main Board.
Where relevant, the details of an incident
and the measures taken are shared around
Group operations to prevent similar
accidents elsewhere.

The absolute number of lost time incidents
("LTIs") is a KPI which measures the success
of the health and safety policy and ethos of
the Group. The selection of an absolute
measure across the whole Group, which
does not reflect the increase in employee
numbers or hours worked, demonstrates our
belief that no injuries are acceptable.  The
following table shows the results over the
last five years:

Year No. of LTIs

2003/04 120
2004/05 96
2005/06 98
2006/07 86
2007/08 91

On a per employee basis, there continues to
be improvement in our health and safety
performance. The introduction of the Health
and Safety Management System Framework
not only drives further improvement in our
established businesses but is also the basis
for integrating acquisitions into the Group's
safety culture.

ENVIRONMENT
The Group is committed to identifying and
assessing the risks of pollution and other
forms of environmental impairment arising
out of its activities. We seek to reduce our

SALES PER EMPLOYEE

YEAR

£’
00

0
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impact on the environment to the lowest
practical levels and with each new
investment ensure that we exemplify the
best contemporary practice in respect of the
environment. At Board level, the Chief
Executive Officer has specific responsibility
for the development of policy and
management systems. Responsibility for
environmental matters in each operating
division is designated to the Divisional
Managing Director and, at a local level, to a
senior manager on each site. Each
Divisional Managing Director is required to
report to the Board on a regular basis and to
advise the Board immediately of any
environmental risks or other incidents likely
to be significant to the business. No new
risks or incidents were reported to the Board
in the last year.

All acquisitions are subject to appropriate
environmental due diligence which is
specifically extended to include
environmental management systems and
operational compliance. Compliance with
applicable regulatory standards is a
minimum which is subject to official audit;
other larger facilities validate their
management systems by independent audit.
Significant progress is being made on
environmental management systems with
one site achieving ISO 14000 and six other
locations actively progressing towards
accreditation in 2008 or 2009.

We are exploring suitable environmental
KPIs for the Group as a whole which can
then be reported in future years. Areas
being looked at include energy consumption
and waste management, both of which
potentially have a direct environmental and
business impact. A small number of
operations have assessed their carbon
footprint with a view to seeing if some
meaningful actions can result from such
measures and to prepare for a local
compliance requirement. To date the view is
that, whilst progress is being made, carbon
footprint estimates are not yet a valid
consistent measure comparable across the
wide range of sizes, technologies and
locations of the Group’s units.

In addition to our environmental
responsibilities, there are sound commercial
reasons to minimise and recycle waste. As a
manufacturing Group, the obvious focus is
on raw materials as the reduction
opportunities are well known and, for the
residual waste, recycling well understood.
However, in a number of locations there is
substantial water usage. This can be a

significant local issue, for example in
Australia, where our conveyor belting plant
in Melbourne voluntarily reduced
consumption by over 60%.

Air quality can be adversely affected by
some of our processes and significant
investment and maintenance costs are
incurred to ensure this does not happen.
A number of locations use processes which
involve a range of chemicals which are
generically referred to as volatile organic
compounds (“VOCs”). These chemicals are
subject to strict regulation with their storage
and use carefully controlled. In addition to
minimising any emissions to air of VOCs,
potential substitutes are assessed as soon
as they become commercially available.

The majority of the Group’s businesses have
occupied their sites for many years, some
for over 100 years. The Group therefore
recognises and manages risk of exposure to
environmental legacy issues.

Fenner continues to be committed to
undertaking regular reviews of its activities
and the workings of the environmental policy
to ensure that it is comprehensive and
effective, identifying objectives and standards
that will enable a demonstrable continuous
improvement in environmental matters.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 
Fenner considers the following to be the
most significant risk factors for Fenner to
consider, but the risk factors listed do not
necessarily comprise all those associated
with Fenner and are not set out in any
particular order of priority.

Additional risks and uncertainties not
presently known to Fenner or that Fenner
currently deems immaterial may also have
an adverse effect on its business.

Strength of key markets
The impact of the recent unprecedented
financial market movements and
subsequent government interventions on
Fenner’s key markets are uncertain.
However, Fenner is well positioned to benefit
from the underlying volume growth in energy
markets, particularly oil and coal, and
recovery in industrial markets. Although
Fenner has successfully traded through
previous cycles, a substantial downturn in
one or more of these key markets could
have a material adverse impact on the
business. Fenner continues to look for
opportunities that are counter cyclical to
help balance out any market downturn.
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Fluctuations in raw material costs
Volatility in raw material costs continues to
be a key risk for the Group as there is a
direct impact on the costs of production and
managing customer expectation. The Group
continues to try to manage raw material
costs. For example, where materials are a
significant cost of sale, we have long term
supply agreements and arrangements which
are driven by the constraints of the markets
into which we sell. However, increases in
such costs could have a material adverse
impact upon the Group’s profitability and
cash flow if such increases cannot be
recovered through increased sales prices.

Climate change
Increasing media attention is being given to
climate change and the political will to act
appears to be responding to that coverage.
Fenner takes full account of the substantive
publicised research in evaluating its
strategic projects. The adoption of non-fossil
fuel generation substantially in excess of the
IEA Advanced Technology Scenario would
have a material adverse effect on the
business.

Fluctuations in foreign currency
Due to the global nature of the Group,
Fenner derives a large proportion of its
revenues from overseas and hence has an
exposure to foreign currency fluctuations.
Whilst the Group seeks to reduce this risk
through formal contracts and borrowings,
adverse movements in foreign currencies,
particularly the US dollar relative to sterling,
could lead to material adverse movements
in reported earnings.

Competition
Products are available which compete
directly or indirectly with the Group’s
products. New technology, changing
commercial circumstances and new entrants
to the markets in which the Group operates
may adversely affect the Group’s business.
One source of competition comes from the
low cost economies but whilst these can
compete on price, they cannot always
compete on quality or service. Aggressive or
predatory pricing from competitors could
lead to a reduction in margin or volume.

Dependence on key personnel
The future success of Fenner is dependent
on the continued services of key personnel.
Although the Group has succession plans
and seeks to develop and promote from
within, the loss of the services of the
executive officers of the Group and other

key employees could have a material
adverse effect on the business.

Fluctuations of revenues, expenses and
operating results
Fenner’s revenues, expenses and operating
results could vary from period to period as a
result of a variety of factors, some of which
are outside Fenner’s control. These factors,
which are actively monitored and
considered in all relevant management
decisions, include general economic
conditions, adverse movements in interest
rates, conditions specific to the energy
markets, seasonal trends in revenues,
capital expenditure, other costs and the
introduction of new products by Fenner or its
competitors.

In response to a changing competitive
environment, Fenner may elect from time to
time to make certain pricing, service or
marketing decisions or acquisitions that
could have a material adverse effect on the
Group’s revenues, results of operations and
financial condition. Despite the current
strength of Fenner’s order book and order
pipeline, there is no guarantee that these
orders and expected orders will be
converted into sales, which could have a
material adverse effect upon continuing
profitability and cash flow.

Employee benefit schemes
The Group has a number of employee
benefit schemes, including defined benefit
pension schemes and US healthcare
programmes. These schemes expose the
Group to changes in interest rates, other
investment returns and inflation as well as
the longevity of scheme members.
Developments in medical science and
changes in healthcare management can
significantly increase the cost of maintaining
benefits in the future. Appropriate financial
and legal advice is taken on the rules and
funding of all such schemes.

Major projects
The successful completion of major projects,
such as significant capital expenditure
projects or acquisitions, is important to both
sustain and grow the business. All major
projects have clearly identified resources
and management responsibilities
established during the approval process.
However, failure to deliver on major projects
could have a material adverse impact on
Fenner’s ability to maximise both profitability
and cash flow.
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Litigation
Subsidiaries of the Group are currently
involved in certain disputes, actual and
threatened, and regulatory investigations.
These disputes are actively managed in
conjunction with our lawyers, other advisors
and insurers, with appropriate Board
reporting and oversight. If such disputes
and investigations are not resolved in
accordance with the directors’ expectations
or in favour of the relevant subsidiary of the
Group or if a subsidiary incurs significant
and unexpected costs or is required to
devote significant additional resources,
including management time, in the pursuit,
defence or investigation of these matters,
such disputes and investigations may have
a material adverse impact on the business,
financial resources, results and/or future
operations of the Group.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Certain statements contained in this
document including those under the
captions “Outlook” and “Principal Risks and
Uncertainties”, constitute forward-looking
statements. Such forward-looking
statements involve risks, uncertainties and
other factors which may cause the actual
results, performance or achievements of
Fenner, or industry results, to be materially
different from any future results,
performance or achievements expressed or
implied by such statements. Such risks,
uncertainties and other factors include,
among others: growth in the energy markets,
general economic conditions and the
business environment, especially following
the recent unprecedented financial market
movements and subsequent government
interventions.

Mark Abrahams
Chief Executive Officer 
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REVENUE AND OPERATING PROFIT
Reported Group revenue increased by 15%
to £437.8m (2007 £380.8m). Of this
increase, 10% was generated by existing
businesses and 5% by businesses acquired
during the year.

In the CB Division, revenue increased to
£292.2m (2007 £255.8m), with growth in all
territories as demand for its products and
services remained strong in the principal
territories in which it operates.

In the AEP Division, revenue increased to
£145.6m (2007 £125.0m) from acquisition
activity and strong growth from the seals
businesses.

Group operating profit before amortisation of
intangible assets acquired and exceptional
items increased by 26% to £49.3m (2007
£39.0m). Divisional profits contributed were
£29.1m (2007 £24.2m) from the CB Division
and £26.1m (2007 £20.0m) from the AEP
Division.

Exceptional items incurred of £3.4m (2007
£0.2m) related to costs associated with the
expansion of the conveyor belting business
in North America of £3.7m (2007 £1.9m),
acquisition integration costs of £0.4m (2007
£0.8m) and a £0.7m profit on disposal of the
lightweight PVC conveyor belting business
in the US.

Amortisation of intangible assets acquired
increased to £2.1m (2007 £0.6m), reflecting
acquisitions completed in the year.

Group operating profit increased by 15% to
£43.8m (2007 £38.2m).

INTEREST
The net finance cost was £7.5m (2007
£4.6m) and included £0.3m (2007 £0.2m) of
finance costs on both discounted provisions
and contingent deferred consideration on
acquisitions. The increase largely reflected
the growth of net debt in the year as a result
of the planned acquisitions and capital
expenditure. Interest cover was 6.8 times
(2007 8.9 times).

TAXATION
The taxation rate for the year was 29%
(2007 29%). The underlying taxation rate
before amortisation of intangible assets
acquired and exceptional items was 30%
(2007 30%). Although the overall rate did
not change, the mix of the taxation charge
reflected relatively high taxation rates
incurred on North American profits and an

additional deferred tax charge in the UK
caused by the phasing out of industrial
buildings allowances. These were offset by
lower rates elsewhere, which included the
utilisation of tax losses and tax assets not
previously recognised for deferred taxation,
particularly in the UK and continental
Europe, and the benefit of a tax holiday in
China. 

EARNINGS PER SHARE AND DIVIDENDS
Basic earnings per share was 15.5p (2007
15.0p) and, adjusted for amortisation of
intangible assets acquired and exceptional
items, was 17.5p (2007 15.1p).

The interim dividend of 2.2p (2007 2.075p)
was paid on 8 September 2008. The Board
is recommending a final dividend of 4.4p
(2007 4.15p) to make a total dividend for the
year of 6.6p (2007 6.225p).

ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
The Group has completed seven
acquisitions during the year and two after
the year end. One business was divested
during the year.

The acquisitions completed during the year
are disclosed in note 33 to the Group
financial statements. The total cash
payments made in respect of these
amounted to £45.9m. The present value of
contingent and deferred consideration
payable in future periods is estimated at
£8.9m at the year end, with a maximum
present value amount payable of £10.1m.
The provisional fair value of net assets
acquired, including intangible amounts, was
£41.0m and goodwill of £13.7m was
capitalised.

In October 2008, after the year end, £31.0m
was paid for the businesses of the Conveyor
Services Corporation group of companies,
including Loadout Services, and Solid
Systems Engineering, LLC. The present
value of contingent and deferred
consideration payable is estimated at
£22.0m (based on exchange rates at the
dates of completion), with a maximum
present value of £25.0m and excluding any
adjustment relating to the final value of
working capital acquired. 

In July 2008, substantially all of the assets
and liabilities of our non-core lightweight
PVC conveyor belting operation held within
Fenner Dunlop (Charlotte), Inc was
disposed of for £5.0m, excluding costs, and
resulted in an exceptional profit on disposal
of £0.7m.
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CASH FLOW, NET DEBT AND FINANCING
Stronger profits generated a £53.9m (2007
£42.5m) operating cash flow before
movements in working capital. To
accommodate growth in the business and
maintain an effective pipeline of inventory
holding while our order book increased in
the final quarter, an investment in working
capital of £8.2m (2007 decrease of £10.8m)
was made. The resultant net cash from
operations was £45.7m (2007 £53.3m). After
payment of interest of £6.3m (2007 £4.3m)
and taxation of £11.2m (2007 £10.2m), the
net cash from operating activities was
£28.2m (2007 £38.8m). Capital expenditure
increased to £63.7m (2007 £32.0m) in
accordance with our strategic expansion
plans. This compares to a depreciation
charge of £10.1m (2007 £8.0m). After
funding these expansion programmes and
disposing of assets of £0.5m (2007 £0.2m)
the free cash outflow was £35.0m (2007
inflow of £7.0m).

The net outflow on acquisition and disposal
activity was £41.0m (2007 £3.6m).
Dividends paid of £9.9m (2007 £9.5m) and
an inflow from other financing activities of
£35.5m (2007 £0.4m), principally relating to
the share placing outlined below, gave an
increase in net debt before the effects of
exchange rate movements of £50.4m (2007
£5.7m). The translation effect of stronger
exchange rates increased this amount by
£10.9m (2007 decrease of £2.5m) which
resulted in an increase in net debt of £61.3m
to £97.6m (2007 £36.3m).

Gross debt at the year end amounted to
£141.2m (2007 £102.4m). Cash and cash
equivalents at the year end were £43.6m
(2007 £66.1m).  

The Group is financed principally by a mix
of equity, retained earnings, US dollar
private placement loan notes and committed
bank facilities. The principal loan facilities
are raised centrally whilst operating
companies supplement this funding with
local overdraft and working capital facilities. 

To support the Group’s growth, a mix of
additional sources of funding was secured
during the year.

In November 2007, the committed revolving
credit bank facility with three leading UK
banks was increased from £75m to £100m
on the same terms as previously agreed in
June 2007. In May 2008, an Australian $35m
(£16.5m) committed five year bank facility

maturing in May 2013 was secured to assist
in the funding of our Australian operations’
expansion. This was achieved on covenant
terms which were aligned with the UK
committed facility. At 31 August 2008,
£65.2m (2007 £33.5m) of these facilities
were drawn down leaving £51.3m (2007
£41.5m) available.

In March 2008, a placing of 15.7m new
ordinary shares with institutional investors at
233p per share raised £35.4m after costs.

The Group’s other principal source of funds
remained two US dollar private placements;
$90m of Senior Notes repayable in June
2017 carry a fixed interest coupon of 5.78%;
and $27.2m (2007 $34.1m) of Senior Notes,
repayable between 2009 and 2012 carry a
fixed interest coupon of 7.29%.

The committed bank facilities and the 2017
private placement have net debt to EBITDA
ratio and interest cover covenants. At 31
August 2008, the Group’s net debt to
EBITDA ratio was 1.7 times (2007 0.8 times).
The increase reflects the planned
expenditure in the year and remains
comfortably within the Board’s parameters.
For compliance with loan covenants, the
EBITDA reported in the financial statements
is adjusted for, inter alia, acquisitions and
disposals, which makes the net debt to
EBITDA ratio significantly lower.

The Group is well placed, notwithstanding
the current disruption of financial markets, to
fund and support its operations, with
continuing access to medium and long term
debt finance, cash resources and, where
necessary, shorter term facilities.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The Group financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the accounting
policies described in note 1 to the Group
financial statements, in accordance with
IFRS as adopted by the European Union. 

The Company financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with the
accounting policies described in note 1 to
the Company financial statements, in
accordance with UK GAAP.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
In the normal course of business, the Group
is exposed to certain financial risks,
principally foreign exchange risk, interest
rate risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. These
risks are managed by the central treasury
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function in conjunction with the operating
units, in accordance with risk management
policies that are designed to minimise the
potential adverse effects of these risks on
financial performance. The policies are
reviewed and approved by the Board.

The exposures are managed through the
use of foreign currency and sterling
borrowings, derivatives and credit
management procedures. The use of
derivatives is undertaken only where the
underlying interest or currency risk arises
from the Group’s operations or sources of
finance. No speculative trading in
derivatives is permitted.

In the normal course of business, derivatives
have been used to hedge future non-
functional currency cash flows arising from
trading transactions relating to the sale and
purchase of goods and services. The Group
has chosen not to hedge account for such
transactions under the requirements of IAS
39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement’, recognising that cash flows
through to the maturity of the derivative are
unaffected. In compliance with IAS 39, all
financial instruments have been measured
at their fair value as at the balance sheet
date. A charge or credit to the income
statement has been recognised for the loss
or gain on these instruments. In addition, in
accordance with IAS 21 ‘The Effects of
Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates’, all
foreign currency monetary items have been
re-translated at the closing rate, with
changes in value charged or credited to the
income statement.

The interest rate swap entered into in 2006
to hedge interest rate cash flows continued
during the year. This instrument fixes the
interest rate on $40m of floating rate bank
borrowings until 2011. At 31 August 2008,
the fair value of this instrument was a liability
of £1.5m (2007 £0.7m). In 2007, the Group
also swapped $27.2m of the 2017 private
placement into €20.0m, with cash flows
mirroring the private placement at a fixed
rate of 5.05%. This swap matures in June
2017 when the private placement is
repayable. At 31 August 2008, the fair value
of this instrument was a liability of £0.3m
(2007 £nil).

These swaps have been accounted for as
hedges in accordance with IAS 39, with the
charge or credit recognised directly in
equity.

POST-RETIREMENT BENEFITS
The Group operates a number of defined
benefit post-retirement schemes for qualifying
employees in operations around the world. 

The principal scheme is the Fenner Pension
Scheme which is based in the UK. The most
recent funding valuation of the Fenner
Pension Scheme was carried out with an
effective date of 31 March 2008. Whilst this
has yet to be formally completed, the
Trustees and the Group have agreed to
continue funding the Scheme in broadly the
same way going forward. This arrangement
reflects the strong covenant provided by the
Group and a commitment to fund the
Scheme over the long term.

The total defined benefit post-retirement
liability as calculated by the schemes'
actuaries in accordance with IAS 19
'Employee Benefits' and recorded on the
balance sheet increased to £19.1m (2007
£14.1m). Of this amount, the Fenner Pension
Scheme represents £15.5m (2007 £13.1m)
and the overseas schemes totalled £3.6m
(2007 £1.0m). During the year, the fair value
of assets in the schemes has reduced due to
falling equity markets whilst the present value
of obligations has also reduced as corporate
bond yields increased. 

KEY FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS

Richard Perry
Group Finance Director

2008 2007

Adjusted earnings 
per share 17.5p 15.1p

Interest cover (times) 6.8 8.9

Net debt to EBITDA (ratio) 1.7 0.8

Return on gross 
capital employed 18% 20%
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INTERNATIONALLY TRADED COAL PRICES
As published by, and used with the
permission of, the McCloskey Group
Limited, the coal industry recognised market
analysis and trade reporting company.
These bi-weekly prices reflect the delivered
to port price of coal for the two major coal
importing markets.

SALES PER EMPLOYEE
Total annual third party revenue at constant
exchange rates divided by the average
number of employees derived from a simple
total head count with no distinction between
full time, part time, temporary or casual
employees. Where employees are employed
for part of a year, the average number is
calculated on a pro-rata basis.

LOST TIME INCIDENTS
The number of incidents connected with
work which result in an injured person being
away from work or unable to do the full
range of their normal duties, not including
the day of the incident.

ADJUSTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
This is a measure of performance and
growth. It is calculated by dividing the profit
for the year before amortisation of intangible
assets acquired and exceptional items by
the weighted average number of shares in
issue and ranking for dividend.

INTEREST COVER
This measure provides an indication of
whether the Group’s profit is sufficient to
cover its interest obligations. It is calculated
by dividing the operating profit before
amortisation of intangible assets acquired
and exceptional items by net interest
payable on bank overdrafts and loans, other
loans and bank interest receivable.

NET DEBT TO EBITDA
This is a measure of the Group’s ability to
service its debt obligations. It is calculated
by dividing net debt, defined as short and
long term borrowings less cash and cash
equivalents, by the profit for the year after
adding back net finance costs, taxation,
depreciation, amortisation and exceptional
items.

RETURN ON GROSS CAPITAL EMPLOYED
This is a measure of performance relative to
amounts invested. It is calculated by
dividing operating profit before amortisation
of intangible assets acquired and
exceptional items by gross capital
employed. Gross capital employed is
defined as the average of the opening and
closing non-current assets (excluding
deferred tax), inventories, trade and other
receivables and trade and other payables.
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The Group remains committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance as set out in the Combined Code on
Corporate Governance (“Combined Code”), revised in June 2006. 

Compliance with the Combined Code
The Group has complied with the main provisions of the Combined Code during the year ended 31 August 2008 and this statement
explains how the Principles of Corporate Governance are applied within the Group. It should be read in conjunction with the
Business Review and the Board Remuneration Report on pages 5 to 16 and pages 27 to 33 respectively.

The Board
As at 31 August 2008, the Board comprised a non-executive Chairman, two executive directors and two non-executive directors
and is collectively responsible to shareholders for the proper management of the Group. Biographical details of the directors are
set out on page 17.

The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are separate and distinct from one another. 

The Board is satisfied that it has met the Combined Code’s requirements for its effective operation. Specific matters are reserved for
the Board’s consideration under a formal schedule. These include developing Group strategy, reviewing trading performance,
considering senior management appointments, formulating policy on key issues (including the approval of significant capital
expenditure, acquisitions and disposals) and reporting to shareholders. The schedule is reviewed at least annually. Various other
matters are delegated to duly authorised sub-committees of the Board consisting of directors and senior executives. Details of their
composition and purpose are outlined below. In addition, the Chairman and non-executive directors meet every year without the
executive directors being present.

All directors are subject to election by shareholders at the first Annual General Meeting ("AGM") following their appointment and to
re-election thereafter at intervals of no more than three years. Due to his length of tenure, the Chairman seeks annual re-election in
accordance with best practice.

The Group holds appropriate Director’s and Officer’s liability insurance.

Board balance and independence
The Board is satisfied that the current balance of skills and experience is appropriate for the requirements of the business. Over
half of the Board comprises non-executive directors, inclusive of the Chairman, and they are deemed by the Board to be
independent of management and do not have any business relationships which could interfere with the exercise of their judgement. 

The Senior Independent Director is David Buttfield.

Information and professional development
Prior to each Board, Committee or General Meeting, the Board is provided with timely, appropriate and sufficient information to
enable it to discharge its duties proficiently.

Non-executive directors receive an induction to the Group and its operations when they are appointed to the Board. They are also
encouraged to visit the Group’s offices and factories whenever the opportunity presents itself where they meet management and
are briefed on local business operations. At least one Board meeting during the year is held at an operational site outside of the
UK. In 2008, this took place at the conveyor belting factory in South Africa. 

All directors have access to the Company Secretary, who is responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are followed and that
the Group complies with all applicable rules, regulations and obligations governing its operations. A procedure exists for directors
to take independent professional advice, at the Group’s expense, if necessary, in the furtherance of their duties. 

Performance evaluation
A Board performance evaluation was carried out in the year which comprised of a questionnaire and individual meetings with the
Chairman. The review looked at the effectiveness of the Board overall, its structure, composition, Board processes and Committees.
The Chairman also evaluated the performance of the individual directors as part of the review. It was concluded that the
composition, experience and effectiveness of the Board was appropriate and robust.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises the two non-executive directors and is chaired by David Buttfield, who has recent and relevant
financial experience. The Company Secretary acts as a secretary to the Committee. In undertaking its duties, the Committee has
access to the services of the Group Finance Director and the Company Secretary as well as access to external professional
advice. The Committee has the power to request the attendance at meetings of any director, external auditor or Group employee as
considered appropriate. The Committee also meets external auditors without the executive directors being present. 

Corporate Governance



The principal duties of the Committee are to monitor the integrity of the financial statements, to review the internal controls and risk
management systems, to review the work of internal audit and to consider all aspects of the relationship with the external auditors.
The Committee has the authority to obtain external legal or other professional advice on any matter within its terms of reference.

The work of the Audit Committee
During the year, the Committee carried out the following work:

- review, prior to Board approval, of the Preliminary and Interim Results, the Annual Report and the Interim Report; 
- consideration of the Group’s key business risks, including the arrangements for the identification and management of risk;
- overseeing the implementation of a Group-wide risk management system;
- receive the reports on internal control and review the effectiveness of the internal control function, monitor progress and

evaluate the internal control reports at least twice a year.
- meet with the external auditors, both with and without the executive management being present, to discuss audit issues;
- approve the external auditors' terms of engagement and associated fees;
- monitor the level of non-audit work of the external auditors;
- review the terms of reference of the Audit Committee and the Whistleblowing Policy.

No non-routine matters of concern were drawn to the Committee’s attention by either the external or internal auditors through the
year. Matters of material concern would be immediately drawn to the Committee’s attention if and when they arise.

There is a policy on the provision of non-audit services by the external auditors. Certain services such as due diligence in relation
to acquisitions and disposals, taxation services and actuarial advice are permitted but others, for example, internal audit,
information technology and HR consultancy are generally considered inappropriate. Non-audit fees are reported to the Committee.

The Committee has received and reviewed written confirmation from the external auditors on all relationships that, in their
judgement, may bear on their independence. The external auditors have also confirmed that they consider themselves independent
within the meaning of UK regulatory and professional requirements.

Audit Committee and internal control
The Audit Committee reviews the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control and receives a report on internal control at
least twice a year. This review covers all controls, including operational, financial, compliance and risk management.

In accordance with the requirements of the Combined Code and the recommendations of the Turnbull Guidance on internal control,
the directors have reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control system. During the period under review, no significant changes
to the material risks were identified and no control failings or weaknesses were identified that resulted in unforeseen material losses.

The directors are responsible for the Group’s system of internal control which, like any system of internal control, can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The key procedures within the control structure are: 
- the identification of major business and insurance risks faced by the Group’s operations, by both the Board and senior

management, and the determination of the most appropriate course of action to deal with these risks; 
- central review and approval procedures in respect of major areas of risk such as acquisitions and disposals, litigation,

treasury management, taxation and environmental issues; 
- a clear management structure with well defined lines of responsibility and the appropriate levels of delegation; 
- regular review of the Group’s business units by operational and executive management; 
- a structured process for appraising and authorising capital projects. This process includes clearly defined authorisation

levels. Projects are subject to post-investment appraisals; 
- well established consolidation and reporting systems for both the statutory and monthly management accounts, with all

Board members receiving a monthly statement of the financial results; 
- comprehensive budgeting systems with an annual budget approved by the Board. Monthly results are reported against

budget and revised forecasts for the year are prepared regularly; 
- an internal programme of monitoring visits by the internal audit team, as agreed with the Audit Committee, reviews the

compliance of each business unit with the Group's standard internal financial control procedures; 
- competition compliance programmes are in place in several jurisdictions and the Group-wide Whistleblowing Policy

continues to be applied; and 
- a programme of business risk reviews with operational management focusing on non-financial controls and risk

management.

F e n n e r  P L C    1 9



Corporate Governance continued

2 0    F e n n e r  P L C

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee comprises the Chairman and the non-executive directors and is chaired by David Campbell. The
Chief Executive Officer also attends the meetings by invitation but does not participate in any decision in relation to his own
remuneration. The Committee has the power to request the attendance at meetings of any director or Group employee as
considered appropriate.

The Committee is responsible to the Board for determining the remuneration packages of the executive directors and other senior
executives and advises on executive remuneration policy issues. The Committee administers the long term Performance Share Plan
(“PSP”) and the outgoing Long Term Share Incentive Plan (“LTIP”). It also approves the granting to employees of a long term
Shadow Performance Share Plan which is a cash incentive scheme with performance criteria which are the same as the PSP.
The Remuneration Committee received advice during the year from Hewitt New Bridge Street Consultants LLP (“HNBSC”), who
advised the Committee in relation to director and senior executive remuneration and the PSP. MM&K Ltd assisted the Committee in
consideration of matters in relation to the outgoing LTIP.

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee comprises the Chairman, the non-executive directors and the Chief Executive Officer. The Committee is
chaired by the Chairman and meets at least annually. The Committee has the power to request the attendance at meetings of any
director or Group employee as considered appropriate.

Terms of reference set out the Committee’s role and duties which include reviewing the composition of the Board, having
responsibility for the identification and nomination of candidates to fill Board vacancies and considering succession planning for all
Board positions and senior executives.  

Candidates for appointment to the Board are considered by the Committee, taking advice from external consultants where
appropriate.

Meetings of the Board
The attendance of each director at Board, Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committee meetings is set out below.

Terms of reference
The terms of reference of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees are reviewed at least annually and are available to
view on the Group’s website at www.fenner.com or upon request to the Company Secretary.

Executive Committee
The Executive Committee is chaired by the Chief Executive Officer and consists of the two executive directors, the Company
Secretary and five members of the Group’s senior management. The Executive Committee meets at least six times a year and deals
with the daily management of the Group through powers delegated to it by the Board. 

Directors' remuneration
Policy and procedure are set out in the Board Remuneration Report on pages 27 to 33.

Number of meetings during the year

Chairman 
C I Cooke

Executive directors
M S Abrahams

R J Perry

Non-executive directors
D F Buttfield

D A Campbell

* By invitation

6

6

6

6

6

6

Board

3

3*

3*

3*

3

3

Audit 
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

3

3

2*

0

3

3

1

1

1

1*

1

1

Nomination
Committee



Relations with shareholders
The Company encourages regular dialogue with its institutional shareholders and also with private investors at the AGM. The Chief
Executive Officer and Group Finance Director hold update meetings with institutional shareholders following the announcement of
Preliminary and Interim Results and as requested throughout the year. Similar meetings are held with private client brokers so that
the same information can be disseminated to private investors. The Chairman and non-executive directors are offered the
opportunity to attend meetings with major shareholders and attend if requested.

The Board is provided with broker reports and feedback from shareholder meetings on a regular basis.

The Group’s website provides comprehensive investor relations information for shareholders to view. The website includes analyst
presentations, the current share price, regulatory announcements, financial performance information, shareholder information and
an investor relations contact address.

Annual General Meeting
In relation to the Company’s AGM:

- proxy forms allow for voting either for a resolution, against a resolution or for a vote to be withheld;
- a separate resolution is proposed for each substantially separate issue, including the receipt of the Annual Report;
- the proxy count in respect of each resolution is announced after it has been dealt with on a show of hands;
- all executive and non-executive Board members normally attend the meeting;
- the Notice of Meeting, the Annual Report and any other related papers are normally sent to shareholders more than one

month before the meeting; and
- shareholders are invited to ask questions during the AGM and have an opportunity to meet the Board directors before and

after the formal meeting.

Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the Annual Report, the Board Remuneration Report and the
financial statements 
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, the Board Remuneration Report and the Group and Company
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law, the directors have
prepared the Group financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the
European Union and the Company financial statements and the Board Remuneration Report in accordance with applicable law and
United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). The Company and Group
financial statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group and of the
profit or loss of the Group for that period.

In preparing those financial statements, the directors are required to:
- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
- make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent ;
- state that the Group financial statements comply with IFRS as adopted by the European Union and with regard to the

Company financial statements that applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

- prepare the Group and Company financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that
the Group will continue in business, in which case there should be supporting assumptions or qualifications as necessary.

The directors confirm that they have complied with the above requirements in preparing the financial statements.

The directors are also required by the Disclosure and Transparency Rules of the Financial Services Authority to include a
management report containing a fair review of the business and a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group and Company.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Company and the Group and to enable them to ensure that the Group financial statements comply with the
Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation and the Company financial statements and the Board Remuneration
Report comply with the Companies Act 1985. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 
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Directors’ statement pursuant to the Disclosure and Transparency Rules
Each of the directors, whose names and functions are listed in The Board on page 17 confirm that, to the best of each person’s
knowledge and belief:

- the Group financial statements, prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union, and the Company
financial statements, prepared in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the Group and Company and of the profit
of the Group; and

- the Business Review on pages 5 to 16 includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the
position of the Company and Group, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face.

Going concern
After making enquiries, the directors have formed a judgment at the time of approving the financial statements that there is a
reasonable expectation that the Company and Group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. For this reason, the directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

C I Cooke 
Chairman
12 November 2008
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Fenner is aware of and takes seriously its responsibilities towards customers, employees, suppliers and the local communities in
which it works. The Group has identified that health and safety, its people, how it does business, reducing environmental impact
and involvement within the community are all important to contributing to its overall business performance. As such, these issues
are embedded into the business decision making process and the Group believes that this proactive attitude and approach
enhances its reputation, profitability and shareholder return.

The risks associated with the non-financial aspects of the Group’s business are managed within the Group’s risk management
framework and are continuously monitored and assessed, with necessary controls put in place in order to reduce the potential
impact.

The Chief Executive Officer has overall responsibility for the development and monitoring of the Group’s policies relating to
Corporate Responsibility. The task of ensuring these policies are communicated and applied at a divisional and operational unit
level is delegated through the divisional managing directors to each unit’s senior management. The policies and associated
management systems are reviewed at least annually and at any time when significant changes in the business, legislation or
industry standard demand. 

The Group’s Health & Safety Policy and Environmental Policy are available to view on the Company’s website at www.fenner.com or
by contacting the Company Secretary.

The Company is proud to continue to be a member of the FTSE4Good UK Index which measures the performance of companies
that meet globally recognised Corporate Responsibility standards and facilitates investment into those companies.

Health and safety
The Group acknowledges the absolute necessity of providing a safe and secure working environment for all people involved in or
impacted by the activities associated with its business. Health and safety ("H&S") also remains a critical component to the solutions
provided to customers. H&S and its management is therefore an integral part of the Group’s business strategy. 

The Group endeavours to set the highest practical standards. As a minimum, each operational unit will always comply fully with its
local statutory obligations and all employees are trained to recognise that the health and safety of themselves and others is their
first priority.

All operational units have a H&S committee which meets regularly to discuss H&S topics and concerns, make recommendations
and implement and monitor any improvements or initiatives. H&S issues and key measurements are also routinely reviewed and
discussed at management meetings, with accidents, serious incidents and near misses reported and escalated to the Executive
Committee and Board where appropriate.

The dissemination of information on a Group-wide basis is also important to ensure continual improvement in all H&S matters. The
findings of H&S investigations are communicated across locations and a general exchange of information and resources between
operations is actively encouraged. During the year, the inaugural Fenner North America Health, Safety and Environment ("HSE")
Network Meeting took place in Anaheim, California which provided a forum for all Group HSE managers in the region to share
knowledge, experience and form collective approaches and initiatives.     

Group Health and Safety Management System Framework
A significant development in the year occurred with a set of Group Expectations being established within a newly created Group
Health and Safety Management System Framework ("HSMSF"). 

The HSMSF covers those areas key to ensuring a robust, all encompassing and continually improving H&S culture within the Group:
- Accountability & Leadership;
- Risk Assessment & Management;
- Training & Behaviours;
- Operations and Maintenance;
- Information & Documentation;
- Customers & Products;
- Incident Analysis & Prevention;
- Monitoring, Assurance and Improvement;
- Crisis Management and Business Continuity Planning;
- Management of Change;
- Working with Third Parties;
- Design and Construction of Facilities; and
- Community & Stakeholder Awareness.

Corporate Responsibility Report
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It is intended that the HSMSF will be embedded into existing divisional and operational unit level management systems over the next
year. During this period, a review of the measurements recorded and used to analyse H&S across the Group will also take place. 

A Group HSE Coordinator was appointed during the year to assist in the continued development, implementation and monitoring of
the Group’s H&S management systems.  

Health and safety awards
A number of the Group’s operations have received external recognition and awards during the year for their performance in H&S. 
These included:

- the US operations at Port Clinton were presented with a Bureau of Workers Compensation award in recognition of 
the 25% reduction to their injury rate during 2007

- the FAST manufacturing site in Hampton secured the prestigious RoSPA Gold Award for the second successive year, 
highlighting the site’s continued excellence in the management and control of H&S

- the US plant at Toledo received two awards from the Safety Council of North West Ohio recognising their achievement of 
one year with no Lost Time Incidents and also for the 25% decrease to the incident rate at the plant.

2008 also saw the inaugural Group Health and Safety Improvement Award presented to Drachten.

Our people
The Group’s success in consistently delivering reliable and superior solutions to customers is founded upon a stable, technically
skilled, innovative and committed workforce around the globe. On average the Group employed 3,924 people during the financial
year, up from 3,663 in 2006/07. 31% of employees are in Europe, 42% in the Americas, 4% in Africa and 23% in Asia Pacific. 

The Group is an equal opportunities employer in terms of recruitment, training and promotion regardless of sex, race, religion,
sexual orientation, age or disability. Harassment is not tolerated in any form. As a global employer, the Group is aware of and
complies with local labour rights and employment practices.

The ‘Fenner Focus’ magazine is distributed to all employees and is an effective route to communicate matters of Group and
operational significance. The magazine informs employees of any major Group developments and provides an opportunity to
highlight and congratulate units and individuals on their work in the community, health and safety initiatives and long service
awards. The annual results are also summarised in the publication enabling all employees to be kept informed of the Group’s
progress. 

Recruitment and retention
The recruitment and retention of a skilled workforce is essential to the Group. Each operational unit employs recruitment practices
which identify the best available candidate for each position. All employees are actively encouraged to apply for roles, including
cross divisional opportunities where applicable. 

Generally, the businesses within the Group have positive histories of high employee retention and the majority of operations have a
long service recognition programme in place.

Training and development
Health and safety training is an integral part of all employee induction programmes. All operations continuously monitor and plan
training to meet both the business and employees' development needs. 

In 2008, Fenner Dunlop Australia was presented with the Leading Training Processes and Practices of the Year Award (Registered
Training Organisation) by the Mining Industry Skills Centre, acknowledging Fenner’s achievements and ongoing commitment to the
development and delivery of training within the Australian Industry. What began as an internally generated training course focusing
on health and safety (covering aspects such as risk management, safe storage, the handling of dangerous goods, understanding
and identifying heat stress and incident reporting) has become an externally recognised certification course and ensures that
splicers from both Fenner and other third parties carry out their work in a consistent, professional and safe manner and promotes
safety in the workplace. 

Annual employee appraisal processes have been locally developed in the majority of the Group’s operations. Employees take part
in a formal annual appraisal to discuss performance, achievements and potential areas for development and progression. The
process also ensures that a continuing communication between management and employees takes place. 

The risks associated with inadequate succession planning are recognised at Group level. These risks are continuously monitored
and, where possible, the Group aims to identify high potential employees and, through a process of training and development,
prepare them for potential senior management.

Corporate Responsibility Report continued
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How we do business
The Group recognises that both its corporate conduct and relationship building are key elements to its business strategy
succeeding. By having a high standard of ethical conduct, partnerships can be formed with third parties throughout the Group’s
supply chain which create value on both sides of the relationship.

Business conduct
The Group’s culture is one of openness, integrity and accountability. These are enshrined within the Group’s Ethics Policy, which is
applied to all business activities and relationships and sets out the behavioural standards expected from all employees – fairness,
honesty and integrity.

The Group operates a confidential whistleblowing procedure which enables all employees to raise any concerns they have.

Competition and anti-trust procedures are co-ordinated at Group level and training is provided to all relevant employees.

Third party partnerships
The Group seeks to identify and develop appropriate and long term strategic partnerships with suppliers and customers to create
mutual value, access to new markets and to mitigate resource and commercial risks. These strategic partnerships are especially
relevant to the number of highly technical niche markets where joint development agreements can expedite research whilst
protecting intellectual property rights.

All operational units have or are working towards ISO 9001 or equivalent status and each undertakes rigorous customer satisfaction
assessments, including senior face to face meetings and customer surveys. Performance and the timing and handling of any
complaints are routinely discussed at management meetings and are used as key measurements in determining the success of the
operational unit.     

The environment
Concern for the Group’s impact on the environment is a fundamental part of the Group’s corporate business strategy as it
endeavours to contribute towards a sustainable future.

The Group is committed to identifying and assessing the risks of pollution and other forms of environmental impairment arising out
of its activities and actively seeks to reduce its impact on the environment to the lowest practical level by ensuring that all
operations and activities of the Group exemplify best contemporary practice in respect of the environment. 

During the year, the Group’s Environmental Policy was reviewed and a new enhanced version was published. The policy encourages
Group-wide communication and support to assist in reducing the Group’s overall environmental impact. This includes, where
possible, the use of video conferencing technology to mitigate the impact caused through inter-continental and domestic air travel.

In line with the HSMSF, a set of Group Environmental Expectations were agreed during 2008 and the alignment of existing divisional
and operational unit level policies and management systems to them will occur over the next year. The establishment of a formal
process of identification and management of environmental risks has also taken place.

Waste minimisation and energy efficiency 
The minimisation of manufacturing waste and the maximisation of energy efficiency are both recognised as beneficial to the Group
from an environmental and commercial viewpoint. 

Waste minimisation is driven and managed at the operational unit level. All major manufacturing operations monitor their waste
emissions and all units comply with local environment legislation. General waste management programmes and initiatives are
encouraged and the recycling of materials takes place where practical, either internally or through external programmes with
suppliers or other third parties. Examples include:

- water waste minimisation in China, South Africa, Australia and UK
- recycled product usage in China, UK and US
- recycled process oil in China and US 
- minimising packaging and paper waste to landfill in US, Australia, China and Europe.



During the year, the Group’s global energy sources were analysed and are shown on the chart below. 

With this and other information provided by the operational units, the Group is undertaking a review of the measurements used to
monitor its environmental impact across the Group as a whole.

Community
The Group continues to actively support local communities and charities. The Group’s ‘community agenda’ is driven at a local
rather than corporate level with the aim to utilise the Group’s resources to enable the enhancement of employee efforts.  

In addition to the time given to community projects and for charitable purposes by all the Group’s employees, the Company made
donations to UK charities of £10,000 during the year. Donations included £4,000 to employee run sports clubs and a total of £2,000
split between local cancer, homeless, disabled and hospice charities.

Employees and operational units give their time and help raise funds for a variety of charities and projects. Examples include:
- during the year, a new scholarship fund was created in the US with the intention of presenting up to three $3,000

scholarships annually to students who wish to pursue a degree in Mechanical, Mining, Chemical or Textile Engineering
- the Prodesco and Secant Medical operations continue to be involved with their local MS Society and for the last nine years

took part and raised funds in the annual MS Walk
- employees and their families at the Manheim facility continue to support ‘Earth Day’ by volunteering their time to clean up

local parkland areas and plant trees (over 400 in 2008) with the aim of reducing soil erosion
- the operation in India continued its annual celebration of World Environment Day in 2008 with a mix of activities including

tree planting, poster competitions, recycling and clean up campaigns. The aim of World Environment Day is to promote
understanding and encourage people and communities to change their attitude towards environmental issues and Fenner is
keen to work in partnership with local communities and government to focus attention on this issue.
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Board Remuneration Report

The Board submits its report on directors’ remuneration. A resolution will be put to shareholders at the Company’s AGM inviting them
to approve this Report. Details of the Remuneration Committee’s responsibilities are given on page 20.

Members of the Remuneration Committee
The members of the Remuneration Committee during the year were David Campbell (Chairman), Colin Cooke and David Buttfield.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee took advice from independent external sources, as noted on page 20.

Remuneration policy
Executive directors
The Company’s policy on remuneration is to attract, retain and incentivise executives with the experience and skills necessary to
operate and develop the Company’s businesses to their maximum potential. It is also designed to align the interests of the
executives with those of the shareholders by rewarding them for enhancing shareholder value and promoting the growth and
stability of the Company.

Consistent with this policy, benefit packages awarded to executives are intended to be competitive and comprise a mix of
performance related and non-performance related remuneration designed to incentivise them, but not to detract from the goals of
corporate governance.

It is the Committee’s current intention to continue to reward the executive directors with an annual performance related bonus plan,
linked to earnings per share ("EPS") and a PSP, details of which are given on page 29. The shares allocated under the final cycle of
the outgoing LTIP will be awarded to executives after the three year plan cycle expires in November 2008. The award will be
dependent on the comparative performance of the Company’s total shareholder return (“TSR”) against the TSR of companies
comprising the FTSE All Share Industrial Engineering Sector (“LTIP Peer Group”) over the period from the provisional allocation date
to the final award date. The PSP has a bespoke peer group comprising companies from the FTSE All Share Industrial Engineering
Sector and comparative companies from the General Industrials and Electronic & Electrical Equipment Sectors (“PSP Peer Group”).
The Committee considers that TSR, which comprises of, inter alia, dividend yield and share price movement in comparison with
both the LTIP Peer Group and the PSP Peer Group, is the best measure of long term performance as it aligns the interests of
executives with shareholders and recognises market conditions in the Group’s industrial sector.

The targeted composition of each executive director’s remuneration is as follows:

Non-performance related Performance related

Mark Abrahams  60%  40%
Richard Perry  60%  40%

Chairman and non-executive directors
The Chairman and non-executive directors are usually appointed for a fixed three year term.

The remuneration of the non-executive directors is determined by the Board as a whole, having regard to the packages awarded
by other UK listed companies of similar size and complexity. The fees paid to the Chairman and non-executive directors have been
brought into line with the bespoke comparator group with effect from 1 September 2008 following the results of the HNBSC report,
as detailed on page 28.

The non-executive directors do not participate in any of the Group’s bonus, share option or incentive schemes, nor do they accrue
any pension entitlement.

Directors’ service contracts
The executive directors have rolling 12 month contracts. In addition, the Company has agreed to the payment of a prescribed sum
equivalent to 12 months salary and contractual benefits if there is a change of control or termination of their contracts by the
Company other than for cause. 

The service contracts do not contain any provision for compensation on early termination other than the notice period and the
provision noted above, however the Committee will seek to mitigate cost to the Company whilst dealing fairly with each individual
case.
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The details of the service contracts in relation to the executive directors and letters of appointment in relation to the Chairman and
non-executive directors who served as directors during the year are as follows:

Unexpired term at Notice
31 August 2008 period

Executive directors
Mark Abrahams  - 1 year
Richard Perry - 1 year
Non-executive directors
Colin Cooke* 28 months 1 year
David Buttfield** 28 months 1 year
David Campbell*** 38 months 1 year

* Colin Cooke’s services are provided by way of an agreement between the Company, Steels Management Limited and Colin
Cooke. His service agreement was extended in September 2008 until the AGM 2011.
** David Buttfield has agreed to serve a further term of two years from the AGM 2009 until the AGM 2011.
*** David Campbell will serve for a second three year term from 1 November 2008.

External appointments
The Company recognises that its executive directors are likely to be invited to become non-executive directors of other companies
and that such appointments can broaden experience and knowledge which may benefit the Company. Therefore, executive
directors may, subject to approval by the Board and providing there is no conflict of interest, be allowed to accept appointments as
a non-executive director of another company and are normally allowed to retain the fees paid from such appointments. In normal
circumstances, they may not accept more than one appointment. Currently the Chief Executive Officer, Mark Abrahams, is the
non-executive Chairman of Inditherm plc and retained fees of £35,000 in relation to Inditherm plc’s year ended 31 December 2007.
The Group Finance Director, Richard Perry, is a non-executive director of Scapa Group plc and retained fees of £35,500 in relation
to Scapa Group plc’s year ended 31 March 2008.

Remuneration components for executive directors
The major components of the executive directors’ remuneration are as follows:

Basic annual salary and benefits
The basic annual salary is subject to an annual review which takes into account the performance of the Group and the individual
and salary trends in comparable companies. In addition, a car allowance, healthcare insurance and other benefits are available in
line with normal corporate practice.

During the year, HNBSC were commissioned to produce a report on comparative pay for chairmen, non-executive directors,
executive directors and senior executives of companies similar to Fenner, benchmarked against two comparator groups; (1) a
bespoke group of 20 companies comprising the majority of the companies used in the PSP Peer Group and (2) a number of other
companies with median market capitalisation and turnover similar to Fenner, comprising 26 companies from all industries excluding
financial services, property and real estate. All companies in these groups had a market cap and turnover within 50% - 200% of the
Company and at least 25% of their turnover outside the UK.

In light of the report recommendations, the salaries of the executive directors were increased with effect from 1 September 2008 to
raise them above the lower quartile.

The Remuneration Committee takes account of the pay levels of senior management of the Fenner Group when establishing the
executive directors’ remuneration and has adjusted salaries in the light of the HNBSC report.

Annual performance related bonus
Performance related cash bonuses are reviewed annually. Demanding performance targets are set which must be achieved before
the maximum bonus is payable. The confirmed criteria for the year under review include targets linked to the Group’s performance
in terms of operating profit, EPS and working capital. The target bonus for achievement of the annual budget for these measures is
35% of basic annual salary and the maximum potential payment for the annual bonus is 60% of basic annual salary, excluding
benefits in kind and pension contributions. 

The Remuneration Committee has introduced a new bonus scheme for 2008/09 wherein the executive directors will receive a bonus
based on EPS targets aligned to shareholder expectations. If expected EPS returns are achieved for the year, the executive director
will receive 45% of salary as a bonus with a linear EPS progression to cap bonuses at 60% of basic salary.
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Performance Share Plan
The PSP, which was approved by shareholders at the AGM on 10 January 2007 and which replaced the outgoing LTIP, is designed
to encourage its participants to deliver sustained long term above market returns to shareholders. 

Rewards under the PSP are linked to the Company's performance against demanding targets over three year periods
(“Performance Periods”). A conditional award of ordinary shares is based on a percentage (maximum 150%) of the participant's
annual basic salary and the value of the Company's ordinary shares on grant. In exceptional circumstances, such as recruitment or
retention of key participants, the Remuneration Committee can make awards of shares worth up to 300% of annual basic salary. 

The performance measurement for each of the Performance Periods is the Company's TSR which is compared with the TSR of the
PSP Peer Group. The PSP Peer Group is described on page 27. The Remuneration Committee selected the PSP Peer Group as it
believed it to be the most appropriate group against which the TSR of the Company should be measured because it is a group of
businesses similar in nature to the Company and which represents alternative investment options for our shareholders. 

100% of the award may vest only if the Company's performance places it within the top 10% of the companies in the PSP Peer
Group. 25% of the award vests at the median. No awards vest if the Company's ranking is below the median. Between the median
and the top 10%, awards will vest on a straight-line basis (with interpolation between rankings). In addition, no award will vest
unless the Committee is satisfied that the Company’s TSR performance reflects its underlying financial performance.

There have been no departures from the Company's policy on awarding benefits under the PSP since it was adopted at the AGM
on 10 January 2007 other than to align the Performance Period with the financial year of the Group and to roll up dividends into the
conditional award until the date of vesting. 

The performance chart below illustrates the Company’s TSR over the past five years compared to the TSR performance of the FTSE
All Share Industrial Engineering Index. In addition to the statutory requirement to plot data over five financial year ends, the graph
and table below reflect data for each of the three year periods (“Plan Cycles”) for the LTIP and PSP Performance Periods. The Plan
Cycles and Performance Periods for the LTIP and the 1st issue of the PSP are aligned with the release of the Group’s Preliminary
Results. The 2nd and subsequent PSP Plan Cycles will remain aligned with the release of the Group's Preliminary Results but the
Performance Periods will be aligned to the financial year of the Group. The Remuneration Committee believes that moving the
Performance Period to correspond with the financial year of the Group more closely aligns the PSP performance with shareholder
expectations and shareholder value. The Plan Cycles remain tied with the release of the Preliminary Results to ensure Plans are not
issued during a close period and that they are only issued once there is full disclosure of price sensitive information into the market
as a whole.

The outgoing LTIP expired in 2007 having reached the end of its 10 year life and the PSP was introduced as the sole long term
incentive vehicle for participants, subject to the final Plan Cycles of the LTIP reaching their natural ends.

The Committee believes that the PSP provides a real incentive for key executives and will result in appropriate rewards for
delivering sustained out-performance against comparator companies and revenue growth. The form of the PSP takes due account
of changes in market practice and standards of good governance.

FTSE All Share
Industrial

Engineering Index

94
100
102
114
134
139
172
189
228
234
231

Fenner

97
100
137
155
195
203
289
283
338
375
334

Date

31 August 2003 
6 November 2003

31 August 2004
10 November 2004

31 August 2005
9 November 2005

31 August 2006
8 November 2006

31 August 2007
7 November 2007

31 August 2008

Fenner FTSE All Share Industrial Engineering Index

Total Shareholder Return



Pensions
The executive directors participate in the defined benefits section of the Fenner Pension Scheme, an Inland Revenue approved mixed
benefits scheme, on the same terms as other senior executives. The Scheme provides for a maximum pension of two-thirds of
remuneration at or near retirement age of 62. For both executive directors, pensionable salary and benefits from the Fenner Pension
Scheme had been restricted to the Scheme's permitted maximum which had been aligned to the Inland Revenue earnings cap until
the implementation of the Finance Act 2004, which was effective from 6 April 2006. Payments up to that date had also been made to
funded unapproved retirement benefit schemes (“FURBS”) to provide top-up pension benefits in excess of the Inland Revenue limits.
Since 6 April 2006, the FURBS payments to the executive directors have converted to a Pension Allowance under the terms of their
Service Agreements. The total amount of the payments post 5 April 2006 does not exceed the amounts that would have been paid as
FURBS. The executive directors have full discretion in how they choose to invest these payments post 5 April 2006.

The following sections of the Board Remuneration Report are audited.

Directors’ detailed emoluments

Annual salary, Annual  
fees or performance  Total Total

consultancy  Benefits in related  emoluments emoluments
services  kind* bonus 2008 2007

£ £ £ £ £

Executive directors
Mark Abrahams 325,000 22,994 195,000 542,994 496,606
Richard Perry 195,000 20,012 117,000 332,012 307,193
Non-executive directors
Colin Cooke** 90,100 - - 90,100 90,100
David Buttfield 37,597 - - 37,597 36,127
David Campbell 34,114 - - 34,114 32,780

681,811 43,006 312,000 1,036,817 962,806

*Benefits in kind include the provision of a car allowance and healthcare insurance for both executive directors.
**By an agreement between the Company, Steels Management Limited and Colin Cooke dated 24 June 1993, as amended by
subsequent supplemental agreements between the same parties, the last one being dated 24 September 2008, Steels Management
Limited agreed to provide the services of Colin Cooke as a non-executive director and Chairman of the Company until the 2011 AGM.
Steels Management Limited may at any time terminate the agreement by giving 12 months notice in writing to the Company.
During the year ended 31 August 2008, £90,100 (2007 £90,100), including a £5,100 car allowance, was payable under this agreement.
No remuneration was paid directly to Colin Cooke, nor were any pension contributions paid on his account. 

The non-executive directors do not participate in any Company pension scheme, nor do they receive any benefits in kind.

No directors waived emoluments in respect of the year ended 31 August 2008.

Pensions
Directors’ pension entitlement
Details of the pension benefits to which each of the executive directors is entitled are as follows:

Accrued Increase in Accrued Transfer  Transfer Increase in
entitlement accrued entitlement  value at   value at transfer value
31 August entitlement  31 August 31 August  31 August less directors’

2007 over the year  2008 2007 2008 contributions
£ £   £ £ £ £

Mark Abrahams 48,300 5,000 53,300 533,800 693,300 159,500
Richard Perry 48,900 6,000 54,900 677,200 872,800 186,400

Board Remuneration Report continued
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Additional information as required by the Listing Rules:
Transfer value of additional accrued benefits

Additional accrued benefits earned in year earned in year less directors’ contributions
£ £

Mark Abrahams  3,000  33,600
Richard Perry    3,900 45,800

The accrued pension entitlement is the amount that the director would be paid annually on retirement based on service to 31
August 2008. The Listing Rules require the increase in this amount to be disclosed excluding inflation. The benefits do not
allow for any retained benefits which the directors may have relating to previous employment. The pension benefits exclude
any additional pension purchased by additional voluntary contributions.

The increase in the accrued entitlement is the difference between the accrued entitlement at 31 August 2008 and the accrued
entitlement at 31 August 2007.

The pension benefits are based on the directors’ pensionable salaries which are limited to the Scheme’s permitted maximum
(currently £117,600 per annum).

All transfer values have been calculated on the basis of actuarial advice in accordance with Actuarial Guidance Note GN11,
which remained in force until 30 September 2008. The transfer values of the accrued entitlement represent the value of assets
that the pension scheme would need to transfer to another pension provider on transferring the Scheme’s liability in respect of
the directors’ pension benefits. They do not represent sums payable to individual directors and, therefore, cannot be added
meaningfully to annual remuneration.

The transfer value of the increase in accrued benefits, required by the Listing Rules, discloses the current value of the increase
in accrued benefits that the director has earned in the period whereas the change in his transfer value, required by the
Companies Act 1985, discloses the absolute increase or decrease in his transfer value and includes the change in value of the
accrued benefits that results from market volatility affecting the transfer value at the beginning of the period, as well as the
additional value earned in the year.

Until 5 April 2006, the Company made contributions to FURBS in respect of the executive directors. From 6 April 2006,
payments to the executive directors have been converted to a Pension Allowance under the terms of their Service
Agreements. The total amounts paid by the Company were as follows:

2008 2007
£ £

Mark Abrahams  219,375 202,500 
Richard Perry    129,675 121,030
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Interests in shares 
The interests of the directors in the 25p ordinary shares of the Company were as follows:

31 August 2008 1 September 2007 
Number Number

Mark Abrahams 590,099 549,044
Richard Perry 452,269 426,446
Colin Cooke 210,408 210,408
David Buttfield - -
David Campbell 3,150 3,150

All directors’ interests are beneficially held. David Buttfield acquired 6,535 shares on 10 September 2008. There have been no other
changes in the interests set out above between 31 August 2008 and 12 November 2008.

Share schemes
None of the directors held any share options during the year.

Awards to executive directors under long term incentive schemes were as follows:

LTIP

Provisional Provisional
allocation Provisional allocation End of Plan Cycle 

1 September  allocation Shares Shares 31 August Value & Award
2007 in the year awarded lapsed 2008 awarded Determination

Allocation Date Number Number Number Number Number £ Date

Mark Abrahams
10 November 2004 155,046 - 69,584 85,462 - 173,271* 14 November 2007
9 November 2005 133,236 - - - 133,236 - 13 November 2008

Richard Perry
10 November 2004 97,524 - 43,768 53,756 - 108,986* 14 November 2007
9 November 2005 82,364 - - - 82,364 - 13 November 2008

Total of awards in year 113,352 282,257

* Mark Abrahams and Richard Perry received a cash equivalent dividend on the shares of £3,670 and £2,308 respectively.

PSP

Conditional Conditional End of 
award Conditional award Performance 

1 September  award Shares Shares 31 August Value Period & Award
2007 in the year awarded lapsed 2008 awarded Determination

Allocation Date Number Number Number Number Number £ Date

Mark Abrahams
20 February 2007 97,720 - - - 97,720 - 19 February 2010
12 February 2008 - 93,238 - - 93,238 - 11 February 2011*

Richard Perry
20 February 2007 59,284 - - - 59,284 - 19 February 2010
12 February 2008 - 55,943 - - 55,943 - 11 February 2011*

Total of awards in year - -

* Performance Period ends 31 August 2010 but the award will not vest before 11 February 2011.
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The performance criteria attached to the conditional award of shares made on 12 February 2008 relate to the Company’s TSR
which is compared with the TSR of the PSP Peer Group.

There have been no variations in the terms and conditions of scheme interests during the year other than to align the Performance
Period with the financial year of the Company. All awards under the LTIP were in respect of qualifying services.

The Plan Cycle that ended on 14 November 2007 was independently evaluated and an award of shares made representing 44.88%
of the original award of shares was made on 13 February 2008. The market value (as defined in the Rules of the Plan) of an
ordinary share of the Company at the beginning of the Plan Cycle was 127.70p (125.16p after adjustment for the Share Placing and
Open Offer in May 2005), at the end of the Plan Cycle was 255.50p, on the day the shares were awarded was 249.01p and at 12
February 2008 for the 2nd PSP was 244.00p.

The performance chart on page 29, which shows the relative TSR of the Company and the FTSE All Share Industrial Engineering
Index, gives an indication of whether each LTIP Plan Cycle and PSP Performance Period will achieve the performance criteria,
based upon the share price at 31 August 2008.

Given the nature of the performance calculation, it could be misleading to indicate a likely outcome for future share awards.

Movements in share price during the year
The market price of the Company’s shares at the end of the financial year was 228.00p and the range of market prices during the
year was between 215.00p and 283.75p.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors

D A Campbell
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
12 November 2008



Directors’ Report

The directors submit their report and the audited Group financial statements for the financial year ended 31 August 2008.

Principal activities
Fenner PLC is a global manufacturer and distributor of conveyor belting and reinforced precision polymer products. 

Business review
The Business Review, incorporating the Chief Executive Officer’s Review and the Group Finance Director’s Review, can be found on
pages 5 to 16.

Results and dividends
2008 2007

£m £m

Group profit for the year 25.9 23.9

Dividends:
Interim 2.2p per share (2007 2.075p) – payable 3.8 3.3
Final 4.4p per share (2007 4.15p) – proposed 7.7 6.6

11.5 9.9

Donations
During the year, the Group contributed £10,000 (2007 £5,000) to United Kingdom charitable organisations. No donations are made to
political parties.

Substantial shareholdings
As of 12 November 2008, the following interest in shares have been notified to the Company:

Number of % of issued
Interested party shares share capital

HSBC Holdings Plc 14,860,061 8.50
Invesco plc 9,030,847 5.17
Legal & General Investment Management Limited 7,691,470 4.40
Lloyds TSB Group Plc 9,582,497 5.48
Rathbone Brothers Plc 6,918,413 3.96

Directors and their interests
The directors of the Company who served during any part of the year are shown in the Board Remuneration Report on page 28.

Details of the directors’ beneficial interests in the ordinary shares of the Company, in share options over the ordinary share capital of
the Company and in the LTIP and PSP are given in the Board Remuneration Report on pages 27 to 33.

Save as disclosed in the Board Remuneration Report:
- no director has any interest (beneficial or non-beneficial) in any share or loan capital of the Company or any of its

subsidiaries;
- no change in the interests of directors has occurred between the end of the financial year and 12 November 2008; and
- there were no contracts of significance subsisting during or at the end of the financial year in which a director of the

Company was materially interested.

David Buttfield and David Campbell will be retiring by rotation at the forthcoming AGM and being eligible, offer themselves up for
re-election. Both directors' performances continue to be effective and they continue to demonstrate commitment to their roles.

Given the length of his tenure, Colin Cooke will also retire by rotation and offer himself up for re-election in accordance with best
practice.
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Supplier payment policy
Given the international nature of the Group’s operations, the Group does not operate a standard code in respect of payments to
suppliers. Individual operating businesses are responsible for agreeing the terms and conditions under which transactions with their
suppliers are conducted, including the terms of payment. It is the Group’s policy that payments to suppliers are made in accordance
with these terms. The average creditor days for the Group during the year ended 31 August 2008 was 55 days (2007 51 days). The
Company does not have any trade creditors.

Employment policy
The Group operates worldwide and its employment policies are designed to meet local conditions and requirements but are
established on the basis of the best practices in each country. Wherever the Group operates, it encourages the provision of equal
employment opportunities. 

The Group’s policy is to secure good relations between management and all employees, to promote a better understanding of all the
issues, both internal and external, that influence the Group’s business performance and to improve performance and productivity.
Formal and informal meetings are used to consult employees and to keep them informed about the performance of the Group. The
practices of consultation and involvement vary from country to country according to local customs, legal considerations and the size
of the operation. The regular worldwide issue of a Group magazine assists the process of communication, as do briefing meetings,
information bulletins and meetings with employee representatives.

The Group continues to recognise its social and statutory duty to employ disabled persons and does all that is practicable to meet
this responsibility. Full and fair consideration is given to the recruitment, training, career development and promotion of disabled
persons bearing in mind the aptitude and ability of the individual concerned.

If an employee becomes disabled while employed by the Group, wherever possible, he or she will continue to be employed in the
same job. If this action is not practicable or possible then every effort will be made to find suitable alternative employment. In
these circumstances, retraining would be made available using Group resources as well as by contact with the local disabilities
employment adviser.

Further details of the Company’s employment policy are given in the Business Review on pages 8 and 9 and the Corporate
Responsibility Report on page 24.

Environmental policy
The Group recognises and accepts that concern for the environment is an integral and fundamental part of the Group’s
corporate business strategy.

Details of the Company’s environmental policy are given in the Business Review on pages 9 and 10 and Corporate Responsibility
Report on pages 25 and 26.

Other statutory information
Set out below is a summary of certain provisions of the Company’s current Articles of Association (the “Articles”) and the Companies
Act 2006 (“Companies Act”).  If further information is required, the relevant provisions of the Articles and the Companies Act should be
consulted.  

Share capital
The Company’s authorised and issued share capital as at 31 August 2008, together with details of shares issued during the year, is set
out in note 9 to the Company financial statements on page 81. Each ordinary share of the Company carries one vote. The Company
has a single class of share capital which is divided into ordinary shares of 25p each.

Dividends and distributions
Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, the Company may, by ordinary resolution, from time to time declare dividends not
exceeding the amount recommended by the Board. The Board may pay interim dividends, including fixed rate dividends, whenever
the financial position of the Company, in the opinion of the Board, justifies such payment. Dividends will be paid pro rata to the
amounts paid up on the shares. In specie and scrip dividends can be authorised at a General Meeting at the Board’s
recommendation.

Voting rights
Subject to any rights or restrictions attaching to any shares by or in accordance with the Articles, at a General Meeting, every member
who is present in person or by proxy shall have one vote and on a poll every member present in person or by proxy shall have one
vote for each share. In the case of joint holders of a share, the vote of the senior who tenders a vote, whether in person or by proxy,
shall be accepted to the exclusion of the votes of the other joint holders. For this purpose, seniority shall be determined by the order in
which the names of the holders stand in the register.  



Restrictions on voting
Unless the Board determine otherwise, no member shall be entitled to vote at a General Meeting, either in person or by proxy, in
respect of any share held unless all moneys are fully paid up on that share. In addition, no member shall be entitled to vote if he has
been served with a notice after failure to provide the Company with information concerning interests in those shares required to be
provided under the Companies Act.

Deadline for exercising voting rights
Voting rights may be exercised in person, by proxy, or by a Corporate Representative. The deadline for submission of proxy forms is
not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting.

Variation of rights
Subject to the provisions of legislation, the Articles specify that rights attaching to any class of shares may be varied or abrogated,
either with the consent in writing of the holders of three-quarters in nominal value of the issued shares of the class being varied or with
the sanction of an extraordinary resolution passed at a separate General Meeting of the holders of the shares of that class.

Transfer of shares
All transfers of certificated shares may be in any usual form or in any other form which the Board may approve. The instrument of
transfer shall be signed by or on behalf of the transferor and, unless the share is fully paid, by or on behalf of the transferee. An
instrument of transfer need not be under seal. Transfers of shares which are in uncertificated form are effected by means of the CREST
system.

The Board may refuse to register the transfer of a share which is not fully paid, provided that the refusal does not prevent dealings in
shares in the Company from taking place on an open and proper basis. In the case of uncertificated shares, the Board may exercise
its discretion to refuse to register a transfer of a share to the extent permitted by the regulations and the facilities and requirements of
the relevant system.

The Board may also refuse to register the transfer of a certificated share unless the instrument of transfer is lodged, duly stamped (if
stampable) at the office or at another place appointed by the Board, accompanied by the certificate for the share to which it relates
and such other evidence as the Board may reasonably require to show the right of the transferor to make the transfer (and, if the
instrument of transfer is executed by some other person on his behalf, the authority of that person to do so); is in respect of only one
class of shares; and is in favour of not more than four transferees.

If the Board refuses to register a transfer of a share, it shall send the transferee notice of its refusal together with reasons for the refusal
within two months after the date on which the instrument of transfer was lodged with the Company.

The registration of transfers of shares or of transfers of any class of shares may be suspended at such times and for such periods (not
exceeding 30 business days in any one year) as the Board may determine, except that the Board may not suspend the registration of
transfers of any participating security without the consent of CREST.

Restriction of transfer rights
The former owners of King Energy Services in New Mexico and King Energy Services in Colorado have had part of the consideration
for the purchase of their businesses paid in Fenner shares. Both vendors have a contractual obligation to hold the shares for a
specified period before they are to dispose of them unless they seek the consent of the Company to vary the obligation. The Company
ensure compliance with the provisions of the UKLA Model Code, including the rules on dealing in shares during a prohibited period.

Appointment and replacement of directors
Unless varied by ordinary resolution, the number of directors (other than alternate directors) shall be not less than two nor more than
fifteen in number. Directors are not required to hold any shares in the Company by way of qualification.  

At each AGM, all those directors who have been in office for three years or more since their last re-appointment shall retire from office
and be eligible for re-appointment. A director who has held office for a continuous period of nine years or more at the date of the AGM
shall retire from office and be eligible for re-appointment. The Company abides by best corporate practice and requires that directors
with nine years or more service seek annual re-election.

The Company is seeking to adopt new Articles at the forthcoming AGM and, if the new Articles are adopted, the current requirement to
have one-third of the directors, or the nearest number thereto, retire at each AGM will be dropped.

The Board may appoint a director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional director provided that the appointment does not
cause the number of directors to exceed the maximum prescribed by the Articles. A director so appointed shall hold office only until
the next following AGM. If not re-appointed at such AGM, he shall vacate office at its conclusion.
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Powers of directors
Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act and Articles and to any directions given by special resolution, the business of the
Company shall be managed by the Board which may exercise all the powers of the Company. 

The Board may exercise all the powers of the Company to borrow money, to mortgage or charge all or any part of its undertaking,
property, assets (present or future) and uncalled capital and to issue debentures and other securities whether outright or as collateral
security for any debt, liability or obligation of the Company or of any third party. 

Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act and Articles, at a General Meeting, the Board may request the power to allot the
relevant securities including for cash and to buy the Company's own ordinary shares in the market. Currently the Board request such
consent at each AGM. The details of requested authorities in connection with the AGM to be held on 14 January 2009 are set out in
the Notice of the Annual General Meeting.

Significant agreements: change of control
All of the Company’s current share plans contain provisions relating to a change of control. Outstanding awards and options would
normally vest and become exercisable on a change of control, subject to the satisfaction of any performance conditions at that time.

Amendment to articles of association
Any amendments to the Articles may be made in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act by way of special resolution.
The adoption of a new set of Articles is proposed at the AGM to be held on 14 January 2009 and, should the proposal be passed, will
be effective from that date. Further details are set out in the Notice of the Annual General Meeting.

Independent auditors
A resolution to re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as independent auditors to the Company will be proposed at the AGM.

As far as each director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware. Each director has
taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and
to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information.

Annual General Meeting
As special business at the forthcoming AGM, resolutions will be proposed to renew the directors’ authority to allot relevant securities,
to disapply the statutory pre-emption rights to a limited extent, to make market purchases of ordinary shares in the Company
subject to defined limits and adopt an updated set of Articles of Association. The proposed resolutions and further details
regarding these proposals are set out in the Chairman’s explanatory letter accompanying the Notice of the Annual General Meeting.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors

C I Cooke
Chairman
12 November 2008
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Independent Auditors' Report to the members of Fenner PLC

We have audited the Group financial statements of Fenner PLC for the year ended 31 August 2008 which comprise the
Consolidated income statement, the Consolidated balance sheet, the Consolidated cash flow statement, the Consolidated
statement of recognised income and expense and the related notes. These Group financial statements have been prepared under
the accounting policies set out therein.

We have reported separately on the parent company financial statements of Fenner PLC for the year ended 31 August 2008 and on
the information in the Board Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the Group financial statements in accordance with applicable
law and International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union are set out in the Corporate
Governance statement on page 21.

Our responsibility is to audit the Group financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). This Report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the
Company’s members as a body in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and for no other purpose. We do not,
in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or
into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the Group financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the Group financial
statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. We
report to you whether, in our opinion, the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the Group financial statements.

In addition, we report to you if, in our opinion, we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or
if information specified by law regarding directors' remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance statement reflects the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the
Combined Code 2006 specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does not.
We are not required to consider whether the Board’s statements on internal control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited Group financial
statements. The other information comprises only the Directors’ Report, the Financial Highlights, the Chairman’s Statement, the
Business Review, the Corporate Governance statement, the Corporate Responsibility Report and the unaudited part of the Board
Remuneration Report. We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material
inconsistencies with the Group financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices
Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the Group financial
statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by the directors in the preparation of
the Group financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s circumstances, consistently
applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order
to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the Group financial statements are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy
of the presentation of information in the Group financial statements.

Opinion
In our opinion:

- the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union, of the
state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 August 2008 and of its profit and cash flows for the year then ended; 

- the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of
the IAS Regulation; and 

- the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the Group financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors, Hull
12 November 2008
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Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 31 August 2008 

3,4

6

3,5

8

8

9

11

11

11

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit
Distribution costs

Administrative expenses

Operating profit before amortisation of intangible assets acquired and exceptional items
Amortisation of intangible assets acquired 

Exceptional items   

Operating profit
Finance income

Finance costs

Profit before taxation
Taxation

Profit for the year

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent

Minority interests

Earnings per share
Adjusted - before amortisation of intangible assets acquired and exceptional items 

Basic

Diluted

The result for the year derives from continuing operations.

2007
£mNotes

380.8
(268.4)

112.4
(36.9)
(37.3)

39.0
(0.6)
(0.2)

38.2
1.4

(6.0)

33.6
(9.7)

23.9

23.7
0.2

23.9

15.1p
15.0p
14.9p

437.8
(307.2)

130.6
(42.5)
(44.3)

49.3
(2.1)
(3.4)

43.8
1.8

(9.3)

36.3
(10.4)

25.9

25.7
0.2

25.9

17.5p
15.5p
15.4p

2008
£m
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Notes

159.1
116.8

0.5
17.9

294.3

74.8
84.7

1.6
43.6

-

204.7

499.0

(13.7)
(99.8)

(6.4)
(2.6)
(4.9)

(127.4)

(127.5)
(0.5)

(19.1)
(11.1)

(7.5)

(165.7)

(293.1)

205.9

43.7
83.9
64.0
14.0
(1.8)
1.1

204.9
1.0

205.9

90.2
66.5

0.6
12.5

169.8

54.5
61.5

0.7
66.1

0.2

183.0

352.8

(10.2)
(75.1)

(5.4)
(0.7)
(0.6)

(92.0)

(92.2)
-

(14.1)
(6.3)
(5.5)

(118.1)

(210.1)

142.7

39.6
51.7
54.0
(4.9)
0.4
1.1

141.9
0.8

142.7

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

23

22

24

23

27

22

24

25

27

15

28, 29

29

29

29

29

29

29

Consolidated balance sheet
at 31 August 2008 

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

Intangible assets

Other investments

Deferred tax assets

Current assets
Inventories

Trade and other receivables

Current tax assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Derivative financial assets

Total assets

Current liabilities
Borrowings

Trade and other payables

Current tax liabilities

Derivative financial liabilities

Provisions

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings

Trade and other payables

Retirement benefit obligations

Provisions

Deferred tax liabilities

Total liabilities

Net assets

Equity
Share capital

Share premium

Retained earnings

Exchange reserve

Hedging reserve

Other reserve

Shareholders' equity
Minority interests

Total equity

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 12 November 2008 and signed on its behalf by:

C I Cooke R J Perry

Chairman Group Finance Director

2008
£m

2007
£m
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Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 August 2008

33

34

18

36.3

12.2
0.8

(2.7)
(0.2)
(1.8)
9.3

(0.7)
-

0.7

53.9
(8.2)

45.7
1.8

(8.1)
(11.2)

28.2

(63.4)
0.5

(0.3)
0.1

(45.9)
4.8

-

(104.2)

(9.9)
(0.1)
35.6

-
(47.0)
70.9

49.5

(26.5)
66.0

4.1

43.6

33.6

8.6
-

(2.7)
0.2

(1.4)
6.0

-
(2.5)
0.7

42.5
10.8

53.3
1.6

(5.9)
(10.2)

38.8

(31.5)
0.2

(0.5)
-

(8.8)
-

5.2

(35.4)

(9.5)
(0.1)
0.7

(0.3)
(34.1)
66.3

23.0

26.4
41.0
(1.4)

66.0

Profit before taxation

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortisation of intangible assets

Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment

Movement in retirement benefit obligations

Movement in provisions

Finance income

Finance costs

Profit on disposal of business

Profit on disposal of joint venture

Other non-cash movements

Operating cash flow before movement in working capital

Movement in working capital

Net cash from operations

Interest received

Interest paid

Taxation paid

Net cash from operating activities

Investing activities:
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Disposal of property, plant and equipment

Purchase of intangible assets

Repayment of investments

Acquisition of businesses

Disposal of businesses

Disposal of joint venture

Net cash used in investing activities

Financing activities:
Equity dividends paid

Dividends paid to minority shareholders

Issue of ordinary share capital

Repayment of finance leases

Repayment of borrowings

New borrowings

Net cash from financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at start of year

Exchange movements

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

2008
£mNotes

2007
£m
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Consolidated statement of recognised income and expense
for the year ended 31 August 2008

25.9

19.0
(1.4)
(1.1)
(7.4)
1.8

10.9

36.8

36.5
0.3

36.8

23.9

(2.8)
0.5

(0.1)
12.0
(4.3)

5.3

29.2

29.0
0.2

29.2

Profit for the year

Items recognised directly in equity:

Currency translation differences

Hedge of net investments in foreign currencies

Interest rate and currency swaps

Actuarial (losses)/gains on defined benefit pension schemes

Taxation on items taken directly to equity

Net income recognised directly in equity

Total recognised income and expense for the year

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent

Minority interests

Total recognised income and expense for the year

2008
£m

2007
£m

9

Notes
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1. Significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation
The Group financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) adopted by the

European Union and with IFRIC interpretations and those parts of the Companies Act 1985 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. The

Company has elected to prepare its Company financial statements in accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 

(“UK GAAP”). The Group financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except for derivative financial instruments, 

share-based payments and assets of post-retirement benefit schemes which are measured at fair value. 

The following standards or interpretations to existing standards have been adopted for the first time during the year:

• Amendment to IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements - Capital Disclosures’.

• IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’.

• IFRIC 10 ‘Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment’.

• IFRIC 11 ‘IFRS 2 - Group and Treasury Share Transactions’.

The adoption of IFRS 7 has resulted in additional disclosure in the financial statements in respect of the Group's financial instruments and financial

risk management. The adoption of the amendment to IAS 1 has resulted in additional disclosure about the Group's capital structure. They have had

no impact on the results or net assets of the Group.

The following standards or interpretations to existing standards have been published but are not mandatory for the year ended 31 August 2008 and

consequently have not been adopted by the Group in the year:

• IAS 1 (Revised) ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’

• IAS 23 (Revised) ‘Borrowing Costs’

• IAS 27 (Revised) ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’

• Amendment to IAS 32 ‘Financial Instruments: Presentation’ and IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements – Puttable Financial Instruments

and Obligations Arising on Liquidation’

• Amendment to IAS 39 ‘ Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’

• Amendment to IAS 39 ‘ Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ and IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Reclassification

of Financial Assets’

• Amendment to IFRS 1 ‘First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards’

• Amendment to IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payment – Vesting Conditions and Cancellations’

• IFRS 3 (Revised) ‘Business Combinations’

• IFRS 8 ‘Operating Segments’

• IFRIC 12 ‘Service Concession Arrangements’

• IFRIC 13 ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes’

• IFRIC 14 ‘IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction’

• IFRIC 15 ‘Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate’

• IFRIC 16 ‘Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation’

None of the above standards or interpretations are expected to have a significant impact on the results or net assets of the Group.

The principal accounting policies adopted for the year ended 31 August 2008, which have been consistently applied, are set out below.

Basis of consolidation
The Group financial statements comprise the financial statements of Fenner PLC and subsidiaries controlled by the Group as at 31 August each

year, together with the Group’s share of the results of associates and joint ventures, as detailed below. 

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

(a) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity over which the Group has the power to control the financial and operating policy decisions of the entity so as to obtain

benefits from its activities. The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is measured at

the aggregate of the fair values of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued by the Group at the date of

completion, plus any costs directly attributable to the acquisition. The subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities are initially recognised at their 

fair values at the date of acquisition. Subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are consolidated from the effective date of acquisition or

up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary the accounting policies of acquired subsidiaries are adjusted to bring them

into line with those used by the Group. 

Minority interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity. Minority interests consist of the amount of those interests at the

date of acquisition and the minority’s share of changes in equity since the date of acquisition. 

Notes to the Group financial statements
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1. Significant accounting policies continued

(b) Interests in joint ventures

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the Group undertakes an economic activity that is subject to joint control with third parties,

where the financial and operating policy decisions relating to the activity requires the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. The Group’s

interest in joint ventures is incorporated in the financial statements using the proportionate consolidation method. The Group’s share of the assets,

liabilities, income and expenses of joint ventures are combined with the equivalent items in the Group financial statements on a line-by-line basis.

Where a Group entity transacts with a joint venture, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in that entity.

Foreign currencies
(a) Functional and presentation currency

The individual financial statements of each entity in the Group are presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which it operates

(the functional currency). The Group financial statements are presented in pounds sterling, which is the presentation currency of the Group.

(b) Transactions and balances

Transactions in currencies other than an entity’s functional currency are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the

transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. 

Non-monetary items measured at historical cost are not retranslated. Exchange differences arising on the settlement and retranslation of monetary

items are recognised in the income statement in the period.

(c) Net investment in foreign operations

For the consolidation of operations where the functional currency is different to the Group’s presentation currency, the assets and liabilities are

translated at exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date and income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for the

period. Exchange differences arising are recognised directly in equity in the exchange reserve. On disposal of such operations, the cumulative

exchange differences are included in the profit or loss on disposal.

The Group has adopted the transitional provisions of IFRS 1 'First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards' to reset to zero the

cumulative exchange differences in equity at 1 September 2004, the date of transition to IFRS.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign operations are treated as assets and liabilities of that operation and are

retranslated at the closing rate at each balance sheet date. The Group has adopted the transitional provisions of IFRS 1 to not apply this to goodwill

arising on acquisitions prior to 1 September 2004, the date of transition to IFRS.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods and services provided in the

normal course of business, net of discounts, VAT and other sales related taxes. Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant

risks and rewards of ownership have passed to the buyer. Revenue from short term service contracts is recognised in the period in which the

services are completed.

Interest income is recognised on an accruals basis using the effective interest method. Royalty income is recognised on an accruals basis in

accordance with the substance of the relevant agreement. Dividend income from investments is recognised when the right to receive payment is

established.

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee.

All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are included in property, plant and equipment at the lower of their fair value at the inception of the lease and the

present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation. Lease

payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the

remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in the income statement.

Rentals payable under operating leases are recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. 

Government grants
Government grants in respect of property, plant and equipment are treated as deferred income in the balance sheet and are recognised in the

income statement over the expected useful life of the relevant asset. Government grants in respect of revenue expenditure are recognised in the

income statement in the period in which the related expenditure is incurred.

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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Share-based payments
The Group operates equity-settled and cash-settled share schemes for certain employees. 

The cost of equity-settled share-based payments is measured at fair value at the date of grant, excluding the effect of non market-based vesting

conditions. The cost is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the vesting period with the corresponding amount credited

to equity, based on an estimate of the number of shares that will eventually vest. The fair values are measured using the Binomial option-pricing

model and the Monte Carlo simulation approach.

The cost of cash-settled share-based payments is measured as per the equity-settled payments, except that it is recalculated at each subsequent

reporting date. In addition, the corresponding amount is credited to trade and other payables instead of equity.

The Group has adopted the transitional provisions of IFRS 1 to apply IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payment’ only to equity-settled awards granted after

7 November 2002 that had not vested at 1 January 2005.

Post-retirement benefits
The Group operates both defined contribution and defined benefit pension schemes.

For defined contribution pension schemes, payments are recognised in the income statement as they are incurred.

For defined benefit pension schemes, the cost is determined using the projected unit credit method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at

each balance sheet date. Service costs are recognised in the income statement to spread the cost over the expected lives of the employees. Net

finance costs or income are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they are incurred. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised

in full in the statement of recognised income and expense in the period in which they are incurred. The retirement benefit obligation recognised in

the balance sheet represents the excess of the present value of scheme liabilities over the fair value of scheme assets.

The cost of providing other post-retirement benefits, principally private healthcare, is determined from actuarial valuations carried out at each

balance sheet date using the same principles as defined benefit pension schemes.

The Group has adopted the transitional provisions of IFRS 1 to recognise in full the cumulative actuarial gains and losses at 1 September 2004, the

date of transition to IFRS. The Group has also adopted the Amendment to IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ permitting the recognition of actuarial gains

and losses in the statement of recognised income and expense.

Exceptional items
Exceptional items are items of income and expense that are material and relevant to an understanding of the Group’s financial performance and may

be operating or non-operating in nature. In accordance with IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’, such items are presented separately on the

face of the income statement and analysed in the notes to the financial statements. 

Taxation
Taxation expense represents the sum of the current tax payable and deferred tax.

Current tax is the tax expected to be payable on taxable profit for the period using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the

balance sheet date, together with any adjustments in respect of previous years. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the income statement

because it excludes items of income or expense that are not taxable or deductible or are taxable or deductible in other years.

Deferred tax is recognised, using the liability method, for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial

statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, unless specifically exempt. Deferred tax assets are

recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax is calculated using tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset realised. The resulting

charge or credit is recognised in the income statement except when it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case the charge or

credit is also recognised directly in equity.

Dividends
Dividends proposed by the Board are recognised in the financial statements when they have been approved by shareholders at the Annual General

Meeting. Interim dividends are recognised when they are paid. 

Segmental reporting
A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing products or services (business segment) or in providing

products and services within a particular economic environment (geographical segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different

from those of other segments. The Group reports separate information on its material operations for each of the Group’s segments. The Group’s

primary segment is the business sector and its secondary segment is the geographical area. 
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1. Significant accounting policies continued

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost or deemed cost, less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

The Group has adopted the transitional provisions of IFRS 1 to record the previously revalued freehold land and buildings as deemed cost at 

1 September 2004, the date of transition to IFRS.

Freehold land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is recognised in the income statement to write down the value of the asset to its

residual value on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset from the date it is brought into use. Estimated useful lives most

widely applied are as follows:

Freehold buildings 40 years

Leasehold buildings Unexpired term of lease

Plant, machinery and equipment 3-10 years

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets or, where shorter, the term of

the relevant lease.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying

amount of the asset, and is recognised in the income statement.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets

and liabilities of a subsidiary, associate or joint venture at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at cost and is

subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. The carrying amount of goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually, or

more frequently when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may be impaired. Any impairment is recognised in the

income statement and is not subsequently reversed. Any excess of the Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the

acquired entity over cost is recognised immediately in the income statement. Goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate is included within

the carrying amount of the investment.

On disposal of a subsidiary, associate or joint venture, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions prior to 1 September 2004, the date of transition to IFRS, has been recorded at the previous UK GAAP carrying

amount at that date, subject to any impairment required at that date. Goodwill written off to reserves under UK GAAP prior to 1998 continues to be

included in reserves and is not included in any subsequent profit or loss on disposal.

Other intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are initially recognised at their fair value. Other intangible assets are initially recognised at

cost. Intangible assets are subsequently stated at fair value or cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset. Estimated useful lives most

widely applied are as follows:

Computer software 3-5 years

Brands 20 years

Trademarks 5-20 years

Customer relationships 10-16 years

Technology based assets 5 years

Impairment 
The carrying amounts of goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are reviewed for impairment annually, or more frequently

when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may be impaired. The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment

and intangible assets with finite useful lives are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount

may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of any impairment

loss. Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the

cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are

discounted to their present value using an appropriate pre-tax discount rate. If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is

estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount. Any

impairment loss is recognised in the income statement.
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Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to the revised estimate of its

recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no

impairment loss previously been recognised for the asset or cash-generating unit. Any reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the income

statement. Impairment losses on goodwill are not subsequently reversed.

Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing

use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition.

Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date

of classification.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials and, where applicable, direct labour costs and

those overheads that have been incurred in bringing inventories to their present location and condition. Net realisable value represents the

estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

Financial assets
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the

instrument.

(a) Trade receivables

Trade receivables are measured at amortised cost less provision for impairment. 

(b) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, deposits available on demand and other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily

convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. For the purposes of the cash flow statement,

cash and cash equivalents also includes bank overdrafts as they are an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into. An equity

instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. 

(a) Trade payables

Trade payables are measured at amortised cost.

(b) Borrowings

Bank loans and overdrafts and other loans are initially measured at fair value less direct arrangement fees and subsequently measured at amortised

cost.

(c) Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received net of direct issue costs.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
The Group uses derivative financial instruments, including forward foreign currency contracts, options, interest rate and currency swaps and non-

derivative cash instruments, including foreign currency borrowings, to hedge its exposure to the financial risks of changes in foreign exchange rates

or interest rates. The Group does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

Derivative financial instruments are initially measured at fair value on the contract date and are subsequently measured at fair value at each balance

sheet date.
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

1. Significant accounting policies continued

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are designated and effective as hedges of future cash flows are recognised directly

in equity. Amounts deferred in equity are recognised in the income statement in the same period in which the hedged item affects the income

statement.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting or the ineffective portion of financial instruments

that are designated and effective as hedges are recognised in the income statement as they are incurred.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, exercised or no longer qualifies for hedge

accounting. Any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument in equity at that time is retained in equity until the forecast transaction occurs. If a

hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss in equity is transferred to the income statement in the period.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that the Group will be required to

settle that obligation. Provisions are measured at the directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the balance sheet

date and are discounted to present value where the effect is material. 

2. Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make certain assumptions, estimates and judgements that

may affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. These are based on historical experience and any other factors,

including expectations of future events, that are considered appropriate, and these are continually reviewed. Subsequent actual results may however

differ from these estimates and judgements. Areas where assumptions, estimates and judgements may give rise to risk of material adjustments to

the carrying values of assets and liabilities in the next financial year are as follows:

• Taxation (notes 9 and 15)

• Impairment of goodwill (note 13)

• Inventory provisions (note 16)

• Provisions for impairment of trade receivables (note 17)

• Retirement benefit obligations (note 25)

• Share-based payments (note 26)

• Provisions (note 27)

• Contingencies (note 30)

• Acquisitions (note 33)

3. Segment information 
Segment information is presented in respect of the Group’s business and geographical segments. The primary format, business segments, is based

on the Group’s management reporting structure.

Segment results, assets and liabilities comprise items directly attributable to a segment. Unallocated costs, assets and liabilities are corporate items

that cannot be reasonably allocated to a segment.

Business segments
The Group is organised into the following main business segments:

Conveyor Belting Manufacture of rubber, PVC and steel cord conveyor belts. Applications include mining (underground and

surface), aggregates and various industrial uses such as package handling and process industries. This is

supported by a network of service branches around the world.

Advanced Engineered Products Manufacture of precision polymer products including:

- precision drives for computer peripherals, copiers and ATMs

- problem-solving power transmission and motion transfer components

- silicone and complex hoses for heavy duty trucks, buses and off-road vehicles

- seals and sealing solutions for the fluid power and oil and gas industries

- technical textiles for medical and industrial applications

- rollers for digital image processing and medical diagnostics

- fluropolymer components for fluid and gas handling
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Segment information for the years ended 31 August 2008 and 31 August 2007 is as follows:

Segment result
Total segment revenue

Inter-segment revenue

Revenue

Operating profit before amortisation of intangible  

assets acquired and exceptional items

Amortisation of intangible assets acquired

Exceptional items

Operating profit

Net finance costs

Taxation

Profit for the year

Segment assets and liabilities
Total assets

Total liabilities

Net assets

Other segment information
Capital expenditure

Depreciation and amortisation

Capital expenditure relates to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. Amortisation excludes amortisation of intangible assets acquired.

Geographical segments
The Group operates in four main geographical areas; Europe, Americas, Asia Pacific and Africa. 

Segment information for the years ended 31 August 2008 and 31 August 2007 is as follows:

Europe

Americas

Asia Pacific

Africa

Unallocated

Revenue is based on the region in which the customer is located. Total assets and capital expenditure are based on the region in which the assets

are located.

440.6
(2.8)

437.8

49.3
(2.1)
(3.4)

43.8

(7.5)
(10.4)

25.9

499.0
(293.1)

205.9

63.7
10.1

382.1
(1.3)

380.8

39.0
(0.6)
(0.2)

38.2

(4.6)
(9.7)

23.9

352.8
(210.1)

142.7

32.0
8.0

-
-

-

(5.2)
-
-

(5.2)

51.0
(114.4)

(63.4)

0.2
-

-
-

-

(5.9)
-
-

(5.9)

31.4
(141.7)

(110.3)

0.2
0.1

148.4
(2.8)

145.6

26.1
(2.0)
(0.4)

23.7

186.5
(36.2)

150.3

9.6
3.4

126.3
(1.3)

125.0

20.0
(0.6)
1.7

21.1

120.5
(30.0)

90.5

7.4
2.8

292.2
-

292.2

29.1
(0.1)
(3.0)

26.0

281.1
(115.2)

165.9

53.9
6.6

255.8
-

255.8

24.2
-

(1.9)

22.3

181.3
(65.7)

115.6

24.4
5.2

2007
£m

2008
£m

2007
£m

2008
£m

2007
£m

2008
£m

2007
£m

2008
£m

TotalUnallocated
Advanced

Engineered Products

4.7
39.9
17.8

1.3
-

63.7

3.4
20.0

4.9
3.7

-

32.0

141.1
245.5
101.8

10.4
0.2

499.0

140.3
142.6

61.9
8.3

(0.3)

352.8

102.2
201.7
113.2

20.7
-

437.8

89.5
183.0

88.3
20.0

-

380.8

2007
£m

2008
£m

2007
£m

2008
£m

2007
£m

2008
£m

Capital ExpenditureTotal AssetsRevenue

Conveyor Belting
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4. Revenue 
Revenue is analysed as follows:

Sales of goods 

Service contracts

Revenue
Finance income

Other income

Total revenue

Other income is classified within administrative expenses in the consolidated income statement.

5. Operating profit
Operating profit has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment

Amortisation of intangible assets acquired 

Amortisation of other intangible assets

(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

Foreign exchange loss

Research and development costs

Government grants

Operating lease charges

Exceptional items*

Auditors’ remuneration for audit services

Auditors’ remuneration for non-audit services:

- UK

- Overseas

Amortisation of intangible assets acquired is classified within administrative expenses in the consolidated income statement. 

Non-audit services comprise due diligence of £0.1m (2007: £nil), taxation services of £0.1m (2007: £nil) and other services of £0.1m (2007:

£0.1m). In addition, fees for actuarial and audit services of £0.1m (2007: £0.1m) were borne by the Fenner Pension Scheme.

*Exceptional items excludes net costs in respect of exceptional depreciation, impairment loss and profit on disposal of property, plant and

equipment totalling £1.5m (2007: £0.3m) that are already included within their respective disclosures.

6. Exceptional items
Exceptional items comprise £3.7m (2007: £1.9m) of restructuring costs and an impairment loss on assets associated with the expansion of the

conveyor belting business in North America, £0.4m (2007: £0.8m) of integration costs following the acquisitions of EGC, B-LOC and Winfield

Industries and a £0.7m profit on disposal of the lightweight PVC conveyor belting business. Prior year exceptional items also included a £2.5m

profit on disposal of joint venture.

412.2
25.6

437.8
1.8
1.0

440.6

363.2
17.6

380.8
1.4
0.7

382.9

2007
£m

2008
£m

9.7
0.8
2.1
0.4

(0.3)
0.2
1.8

(0.1)
4.1
1.9
0.6

-
0.3

7.6
-

0.6
0.4
0.2
0.1
1.7

(0.1)
3.1

(0.1)
0.5

0.1
-

2007
£m

2008
£m
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7. Employees 

Aggregate employment costs are as follows:

Wages and salaries

Social security costs

Pension costs - defined contribution schemes

Pension costs - defined benefit schemes

Share-based payments

The average monthly number of employees during the year is as follows:

Production

Selling and distribution

Administration

Information on directors’ remuneration is included in the audited part of the Board Remuneration Report on pages 30 to 33.

8. Net finance costs

Interest payable on bank overdrafts and loans

Interest payable on other loans

Unwinding of discount on provisions (note 27)

Bank interest receivable

Net finance costs

Net finance costs

Unwinding of discount on provisions

Net interest payable on bank overdrafts and loans, other loans and bank interest receivable

5.0
4.0
0.3

9.3
(1.8)

7.5

3.5
2.3
0.2

6.0
(1.4)

4.6

2007
£m

2008
£m

7.5
(0.3)

7.2

4.6
(0.2)

4.4

2007
£m

2008
£m

2,959
503
462

3,924

2,738
480
445

3,663

2008 2007

104.2
10.7

4.1
0.2
0.6

119.8

90.5
9.1
3.5
0.8
0.5

104.4

2007
£m

2008
£m



Notes to the Group financial statements continued

5 2    F e n n e r  P L C

9. Taxation

Current taxation
UK corporation tax:

- current year

- double taxation relief

Overseas tax:

- current year

- adjustments in respect of prior years

Deferred taxation
Origination and reversal of temporary differences:

- UK 

- Overseas

Total taxation

UK corporation tax is calculated at an average rate of 29.2% (2007: 30.0%) of the estimated assessable profit for the year. Overseas tax is

calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.  

The charge for the year and effective tax rate can be reconciled to profit per the income statement as follows:

Profit before taxation

Taxation at the average UK corporation tax rate of 29.2% (2007: 30.0%)

Income not taxable in determining taxable profit 

Adjustments in respect of prior years

Effect of overseas tax rates 

Other temporary differences not previously provided for

Taxation recognised directly in equity amounts to a deferred taxation credit of £1.8m (2007: charge of £4.3m), comprising origination and reversal of

temporary differences.

4.3
(3.8)

0.5

10.2
0.3

10.5

11.0

0.8
(1.4)

(0.6)

10.4

4.6
(4.6)

-

9.9
-

9.9

9.9

0.6
(0.8)

(0.2)

9.7

2007
£m

2008
£m

2007
%

2007
£m

29
(1)
1
4

(4)

29

36.3

10.6
(0.3)
0.3
1.3

(1.5)

10.4

30
-
-
2

(3)

29

33.6

10.1
(0.1)

-
0.6

(0.9)

9.7

2008
%

2008
£m
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10. Dividends

Dividends paid or approved in the year
Interim dividend for the year ended 31 August 2007 of 2.075p (2006: 1.975p) per share

Final dividend for the year ended 31 August 2007 of 4.15p (2006: 4.025p) per share

Dividends neither paid nor approved in the year
Interim dividend for the year ended 31 August 2008 of 2.2p (2007: 2.075p) per share

Final dividend for the year ended 31 August 2008 of 4.4p (2007: 4.15p) per share

The interim dividend for the year ended 31 August 2008 was paid on 8 September 2008. The proposed final dividend for the year ended 

31 August 2008 is subject to approval by shareholders at the AGM. Consequently, neither have been recognised as liabilities at 31 August 2008.

If approved, the final dividend will be paid on 19 January 2009 to shareholders on the register on 19 December 2008.

11. Earnings per share

Earnings
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent

Amortisation of intangible assets acquired and exceptional items

Taxation attributable to amortisation of intangible assets acquired and exceptional items

Profit for the year before amortisation of intangible assets acquired and exceptional items

Average number of shares
Weighted average number of shares in issue

Weighted average number of shares held by the Employee Share Ownership Plan Trust

Weighted average number of shares in issue – basic

Effect of share options and contingent long term incentive plans

Weighted average number of shares in issue – diluted

Earnings per share
Adjusted – before amortisation of intangible assets acquired and exceptional items

Basic

Diluted

Adjusted earnings per share has been presented to provide a clearer understanding of the underlying performance of the Group.

3.3
6.6

9.9

3.8
7.7

11.5

3.1
6.4

9.5

3.3
6.6

9.9

2007
£m

2008
£m

25.7
5.5

(2.1)

29.1

Number

166,091,438
(112,767)

165,978,671
888,357

166,867,028

Pence

23.7
0.8

(0.6)

23.9

Number

158,073,110
(131,859)

157,941,251
766,733

158,707,984

Pence

2007
£m

2008
£m

17.5
15.5
15.4

15.1
15.0
14.9



12. Property, plant and equipment 

Cost:
At start of prior year

Additions

Acquisition of businesses

Disposals

Disposal of joint venture

Reclassifications

Exchange differences

At start of year

Additions

Acquisition of businesses

Disposals

Disposal of business

Reclassifications

Exchange differences

At end of year

Accumulated depreciation:
At start of prior year

Charge for the year

Disposals

Disposal of joint venture

Reclassifications

Exchange differences

At start of year

Charge for the year

Impairment loss

Disposals

Disposal of business

Exchange differences

At end of year

Net book value:
At end of year

At start of year

At start of prior year

The net book value of plant, machinery and equipment includes an amount of £0.4m (2007: £0.5m) in respect of assets held under finance leases

and £69.8m (2007: £19.6m) in respect of assets under construction. The assets under construction have not yet been brought into use and therefore

no depreciation has been charged on these items during the year.

Borrowings are secured on freehold property for the value of £0.8m (2007: £0.5m).

At 31 August 2008, the Group had entered into contractual commitments for the purchase of property, plant and equipment amounting to £20.5m

(2007: £11.1m).

148.6

31.5

0.9

(3.4)

(1.8)

-

(4.2)

171.6

63.4

3.6

(1.1)

(4.3)

-

26.7

259.9

79.9

7.6

(3.0)

(1.0)

-

(2.1)

81.4

9.7

0.8

(0.9)

(2.6)

12.4

100.8

159.1

90.2

68.7

112.9

27.9

0.9

(3.4)

(1.3)

(1.1)

(3.5)

132.4

34.2

1.8

(1.1)

(2.9)

(1.6)

19.7

182.5

71.9

6.6

(3.0)

(0.9)

(0.8)

(1.9)

71.9

8.5

0.8

(0.9)

(2.2)

11.0

89.1

93.4

60.5

41.0

31.0

2.6

-

-

(0.5)

-

(0.6)

32.5

25.3

-

-

(1.4)

1.5

6.0

63.9

7.8

0.7

-

(0.1)

-

(0.1)

8.3

0.7

-

-

(0.4)

1.2

9.8

54.1

24.2

23.2

Total
£m

Plant,
machinery & 

equipment
£m

Leasehold
property

£m

Freehold
property

£m

4.7

1.0

-

-

-

1.1

(0.1)

6.7

3.9

1.8

-

-

0.1

1.0

13.5

0.2

0.3

-

-

0.8

(0.1)

1.2

0.5

-

-

-

0.2

1.9

11.6

5.5

4.5
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13. Intangible assets

Cost:
At start of prior year

Additions

Acquisition of businesses

Disposal of joint venture

Exchange differences

At start of year

Additions

Acquisition of businesses

Exchange differences

At end of year

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses:
At start of prior year

Amortisation charge for the year

Disposal of joint venture

At start of year

Amortisation charge for the year

Exchange differences

At end of year

Net book value:
At end of year

At start of year

At start of prior year

The net book value of intangibles acquired comprises brands, trademarks, customer relationships and technology based assets. 

All intangible assets have finite useful lives except for goodwill.

Impairment testing for goodwill
Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated at acquisition to the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from

that business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units as follows:

Conveyor Belting
Fenner Dunlop (Americas, Europe and Australia)

Conveyor Belting (India)

Fenner Dunlop Conveyor Services

Northern Belting Specialists (Australia)

Advanced Engineered Products
Fenner Advanced Sealing Technologies (Process)

Fenner Advanced Sealing Technologies (Fluid Power)

Dawson Hose (UK)

Fenner Drives (US)

Prodesco

Fenner Precision (Buffalo)

72.4

0.5

2.6

(0.1)

(1.4)

74.0

0.3

44.1

9.1

127.5

6.6

1.0

(0.1)

7.5

2.5

0.7

10.7

116.8

66.5

65.8

0.2

-

-

-

-

0.2

-

-

-

0.2

0.2

-

-

0.2

-

-

0.2

-

-

-

3.2

0.5

-

(0.1)

(0.1)

3.5

0.3

-

0.4

4.2

2.4

0.4

(0.1)

2.7

0.4

0.3

3.4

0.8

0.8

0.8

Total
£m

Other
£m

14.9
2.0
1.8
2.0

14.1
25.3

2.2
3.2
6.9
2.5

74.9

14.1
2.0

-
-

12.8
23.1

2.2
2.1

-
-

56.3

2007
£m

2008
£m

Computer 
software

£m

Intangibles
acquired

£m
Goodwill

£m

59.4

-

0.5

-

(1.0)

58.9

-

13.7

4.9

77.5

2.6

-

-

2.6

-

-

2.6

74.9

56.3

56.8

9.6

-

2.1

-

(0.3)

11.4

-

30.4

3.8

45.6

1.4

0.6

-

2.0

2.1

0.4

4.5

41.1

9.4

8.2
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13. Intangible assets continued

The carrying amount of goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually, or more frequently when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the

carrying amount may be impaired. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units are based on value in use calculations using forecast cash

flow projections discounted using the Group’s pre-tax weighted average cost of capital of 10.4%. Forecast cash flows use projected cash flows for

one year, with subsequent cash flows based on expected growth rates in the respective geographical areas. Annual growth rates are approximately

2% for all cash-generating units except for Conveyor Belting (India) where a growth rate of 7.5% has been used. 

14. Other investments

Cost:
At start of prior year and at start of year

Repayment of loan

At end of year

Investments comprise unlisted equities and long term loan notes of an unlisted equity holding. There is no material difference between the cost and

fair value of the investments.

15. Deferred tax
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) are attributable to the following:

Property, plant and equipment

Intangible assets 

Retirement benefit obligations

Fixed asset revaluation

Other short term temporary differences

Movements in net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) are as follows:

At start of prior year

(Charged)/credited to income statement

(Charged)/credited to equity

Acquisition of businesses

Disposal of joint venture

Exchange differences

At start of year

(Charged)/credited to income statement

(Charged)/credited to equity

Acquisition of businesses

Exchange differences

At end of year

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the temporary

differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable right of offset and there is an intention to

settle the balances net. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of certain tax losses amounting to £2.7m (2007: £4.9m) since it is

not envisaged that such profits will be available in the foreseeable future. In addition, deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of

UK capital losses of £0.6m (2007: £0.6m) since it is not envisaged that suitable capital gains will be available in the foreseeable future.

0.6

(0.1)

0.5

£m

Notes to the Group financial statements continued

(0.5)
(2.7)
5.4

(0.9)
9.1

10.4

(0.2)
(2.0)
4.1

(0.9)
6.0

7.0

(2.8)
(2.9)
(0.6)
(0.9)
(0.3)

(7.5)

(1.6)
(2.4)

-
(0.9)
(0.6)

(5.5)

2.3
0.2
6.0

-
9.4

17.9

1.4
0.4
4.1

-
6.6

12.5

2007
£m

2008
£m

2007
£m

2008
£m

2007
£m

2008
£m

NetLiabilitiesAssets

10.6

0.2

(4.3)

0.9

(0.1)

(0.3)

7.0

0.6

1.8

0.2

0.8

10.4

4.7

0.7

-

0.9

(0.1)

(0.2)

6.0

2.1

0.2

-

0.8

9.1

(1.1)

-

0.2

-

-

-

(0.9)

-

-

-

-

(0.9)

8.6

0.1

(4.5)

-

-

(0.1)

4.1

(0.6)

1.8

-

0.1

5.4

(1.9)

(0.1)

-

-

-

-

(2.0)

(0.7)

(0.2)

0.2

-

(2.7)

0.3

(0.5)

-

-

-

-

(0.2)

(0.2)

-

-

(0.1)

(0.5)

Total
£m

Other 
temporary

differences
£m

Fixed
asset

revaluation
£m

Retirement
benefit

obligations
£m

Intangible
assets

£m

Property,
plant and

equipment
£m



Deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised on the undistributed earnings of subsidiaries because the Group is in a position to control the

timing of reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. The aggregate of

temporary differences in respect of this is £0.1m (2007: £0.1m). 

16. Inventories 

Raw materials 

Work in progress

Finished goods

Inventories are presented net of provision for inventory write downs, based on management’s estimate of the net realisable value of inventories. The

amount charged to the income statement in the year in respect of write downs of inventories is £2.2m (2007: £1.7m). The amount credited to the

income statement in the year in respect of reversals of write downs of inventories is £0.4m (2007: £0.9m). The cost of inventories recognised as an

expense in the year is £300.7m (2007: £258.9m).

17. Trade and other receivables 

Trade receivables

Other receivables

Prepayments and accrued income

Trade receivables are presented net of provision for impairment of trade receivables of £1.2m (2007: £1.1m), estimated by management based on

past default experience and other factors as considered appropriate.

Movements in the provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

At start of year

New provisions charged to income statement during the year

Provisions not required credited to income statement during the year

Provisions utilised during the year

Acquisition of businesses

Disposal of joint ventures

Other movements

Exchange differences

At end of year

The ageing analysis of trade receivables not impaired, based on the due date, is as follows:

Not overdue

Less than one month

Between one and two months

Between two and three months

Between three and six months

Trade and other receivables are non-interest bearing. There is no material difference between the carrying amount and the fair value of trade and

other receivables.
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57.3
2.1
2.1

61.5

78.9
2.6
3.2

84.7

2007
£m

2008
£m

0.8
0.6

(0.2)
(0.1)
0.2

(0.1)
(0.1)

-

1.1

1.1
0.5

(0.2)
(0.3)

-
-
-

0.1

1.2

2007
£m

2008
£m

30.9
11.8
32.1

74.8

19.9
8.5

26.1

54.5

2007
£m

2008
£m

37.3
13.8

5.1
0.6
0.5

57.3

50.2
16.8

9.3
1.9
0.7

78.9

2007
£m

2008
£m
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18. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank and in hand and short term deposits

Cash at bank and short term bank deposits earn interest at floating rates based on bank deposit rates. Short term deposits have an original

maturity of three months or less. There is no material difference between the carrying amount and fair value of cash and cash equivalents.

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprises:

Cash and cash equivalents 

Bank overdrafts

19. Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents

Increase in borrowings and finance leases resulting from cash flows

Movement in net debt resulting from cash flows

New finance leases

Exchange movements

Movement in net debt in the year
Net debt at start of year

Net debt at end of year

Net debt is defined as cash and cash equivalents and current and non-current borrowings.

66.1
(0.1)

66.0

43.6
-

43.6

2007
£m

2008
£m

66.143.6

2007
£m

2008
£m

26.4
(31.9)

(5.5)
(0.2)
2.5

(3.2)
(33.1)

(36.3)

(26.5)
(23.9)

(50.4)
-

(10.9)

(61.3)
(36.3)

(97.6)

2007
£m

2008
£m

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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20. Financial risk management
In the normal course of business, the Group is exposed to certain financial risks, principally foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk

and credit risk. These risks are managed by the central treasury function in conjunction with the operating units, in accordance with risk

management policies that are designed to minimise the potential adverse effects of these risks on financial performance. The policies are reviewed

and approved by the Board.

Foreign exchange risk
The Group has operations around the world and is therefore exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from net investments in foreign operations.

Where cost effective, the exposures arising from the translation of the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations are managed through the use of

borrowings in the relevant foreign currency. 

Some Group operations also enter into commercial transactions in currencies other than their functional currencies. Exposures arising from the

translation of foreign currency transactions are continually monitored and material exposures are managed through the use of forward contracts or

options once cash flows can be identified with sufficient certainty. Exposures arising from the translation of intra-group lending are managed

through the use of borrowings in the relevant foreign currency. 

The following table shows the impact (due to the retranslation of non-functional currency monetary assets and liabilities in the Group's operations)

of a 10% movement in the Group’s principal foreign currency exchange rates at the year end date.

31 August 2008
US dollar

Euro

Australian dollar

31 August 2007
US dollar

Euro

Australian dollar

The effect on profit before taxation is due to the retranslation of trade receivables, cash, borrowings, trade payables and derivative financial assets

and liabilities denominated in non-functional currencies. The effect on shareholders’ equity is due to the hedge of net investments in foreign

currencies.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises on floating rate borrowings and short term cash deposits. This is reviewed regularly and is

managed through the use of an appropriate mix of fixed rate and floating rate instruments, including the use of interest rate swaps, in response to

market conditions.

The impact of interest rate risk on the Group's result is due to changes in interest rates on net floating rate cash and borrowings. At 31 August 2008,

if interest rates on the Group's net floating rate cash and borrowings had been 100 basis points higher, with all other variables held constant, the

effect on profit before taxation in the year would have been a charge of £0.1m (2007: £nil). A reduction of 100 basis points would have the equal

and opposite effect. There is no impact on shareholders' equity.

Liquidity risk
The Group’s objective is to ensure that sufficient resources are available to fund short term working capital and longer term strategic requirements.

This is achieved through an appropriate mix of long and short term borrowings.

It is the Group's policy that there should be sufficient long term committed debt facilities available such that the major part of the Group's total

borrowings would not mature for at least one year. The Group regularly reviews expected cash flows against availability of financing.

-
(0.9)
(0.6)

-

(0.7)

(0.1)

0.2
-
-

-

0.2

-

(0.2)
-
-

-

(0.2)

-

Effect on
shareholders'

equity

Effect on
profit before

taxation

-
0.7
0.5

-

0.6

0.1

Effect on
shareholders'

equity

Effect on
profit before

taxation

10% increase 10% decrease
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

20. Financial risk management continued

Credit risk
Credit risk principally arises on short term cash deposits, derivative financial instruments and trade receivables. 

The credit risk arising on short term cash deposits and derivative financial instruments is managed through the use of counterparties with high

credit ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies. 

The Group only trades with recognised, creditworthy third parties. It is the Group's policy that all customers who wish to take on credit terms are

subject to credit verification procedures. Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group's exposure to bad debts is not

significant. The credit risk arising on trade receivables is spread across a large number of customers and across many countries. There are no

significant concentrations of credit risk.

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk is equal to the carrying value of these instruments.

21. Capital management
The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to ensure that it maintains healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and

maximise shareholder value. The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To

maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new

shares. The Group monitors capital using the following indicators:

Gearing ratio

Net debt (£m)

Total equity (£m)

Gearing ratio (%)

Gearing comprises net debt divided by total equity.

Net debt to EBITDA ratio

Net debt (£m)

Operating profit (£m)

Exceptional items (excluding exceptional depreciation) (£m)

Depreciation and amortisation (£m)

EBITDA (£m)

Net debt to EBITDA ratio

Net debt to EBITDA comprises net debt divided by operating profit before depreciation, amortisation and exceptional items.

For compliance with loan covenants, the EBITDA reported above is adjusted for, inter alia, acquisitions and disposals, which makes the net debt to

EBITDA ratio significantly lower.

Interest cover

Operating profit before amortisation of intangible assets acquired and exceptional items (£m)

Net interest payable on bank overdrafts and loans, other loans and bank interest receivable (£m) 

Interest cover (times)

Interest cover comprises operating profit before amortisation of intangible assets acquired and exceptional items divided by net interest payable on

bank overdrafts and loans, other loans and bank interest receivable.

36.3
142.7

25.4

97.6
205.9

47.4

20072008

39.0
4.4
8.9

49.3
7.2
6.8

20072008

36.3
38.2
(0.1)
8.6

46.7
0.8

97.6
43.8

2.3
12.2
58.3

1.7

20072008
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22. Borrowings 

Current
Bank overdrafts

Bank loans

Other loans

Obligations under finance leases

Non-current
Bank loans

Other loans

Obligations under finance leases

Total borrowings

Bank loans include £49.6m (2007: £33.5m) drawn down under a committed revolving bank credit facility maturing in June 2012. During the year, an

additional £15.6m was drawn down under a committed facility maturing in May 2013. Other loans principally relate to two US dollar private

placements as detailed below. 

$27.2m (2007: $34.1m) of Senior Notes bear interest at 7.29% per annum, with an amount of $6.8m repayable annually on 1 June each year until 2012. 

$90.0m (2007: $90.0m) of Senior Notes bear interest at 5.78% per annum and are repayable on 1 June 2017. $27.2m (£14.9m) of this amount has

been swapped into Euros. This results in an underlying Euro borrowing of €20.0m at a fixed interest rate of 5.05%. The swap matures on 1 June

2017 when the private placement is repayable. Arrangement fees of £0.3m are being amortised over the life of the loan.¤

Bank balances are stated net where a legal right of offset exists.¤

The maturity profile of borrowings is as follows: 

31 August 2008
Within one year or on demand

Between one and two years

Between two and five years

More than five years

31 August 2007
Within one year or on demand

Between one and two years

Between two and five years

More than five years

13.7
3.9

72.9
50.7

141.2

10.2

3.6

43.9

44.7

102.4

0.1
-
-
-

0.1

0.1

0.1

-

-

0.2

Total
£m

Finance
leases

£m

3.9
3.9
7.7

50.7

66.2

3.5

3.5

10.3

44.7

62.0

9.7
-

65.2
-

74.9

6.5

-

33.6

-

40.1

Other 
loans

£m

Bank
loans

£m

-
-
-
-

-

0.1

-

-

-

0.1

Bank
overdrafts

£m

0.1
6.5
3.5
0.1

10.2

33.6
58.5

0.1

92.2

102.4

-
9.7
3.9
0.1

13.7

65.2
62.3

-

127.5

141.2

2007
£m

2008
£m



Notes to the Group financial statements continued

22. Borrowings continued

The interest rate and currency profile of borrowings is as follows:

31 August 2008
US dollar

Euro

Australian dollar

Other currencies

31 August 2007
US dollar

Euro

Australian dollar

Other currencies

The fixed rate borrowings principally relate to the US dollar private placements detailed above and $40.0m of bank borrowings, where the floating

rate has been swapped to fixed rate using an interest rate swap. This is detailed in note 23. The interest rates on floating rate borrowings are

principally linked to LIBOR or similar local currency rates.

The carrying amount and fair value of borrowings is as follows:

Current borrowings

Non-current borrowings

The fair value of fixed rate borrowings represents the value of replacing the existing fixed rate liabilities at the balance sheet date with borrowings

with similar terms to the remaining life of the loans. The fair value of all other floating rate borrowings approximates to their carrying amounts where

rates are reset to market rates at intervals of less than one year.

At 31 August 2008, the Group had available £51.3m (2007: £41.5m) of undrawn committed borrowing facilities which expire between June 2012

and May 2013. 

Current borrowings of £0.1m (2007: £0.1m) and non-current borrowings of £0.7m (2007: £0.4m) are secured on specific freehold property.

23. Derivative financial instruments

Forward foreign currency contracts and options

Currency swaps

Interest rate swaps

The fair value of derivative financial instruments is equal to the carrying value. The fair value of forward foreign currency contracts represents the gain or

loss resulting from translation of the contracts using forward rates at the balance sheet date compared to actual contract rates. The fair value of interest

rate swaps, currency swaps and forward foreign currency options represents the market value of a comparable instrument at the balance sheet date.

Forward foreign currency contracts and options
The loss on forward foreign currency contracts and options of £1.0m (2007: £0.3m) has been recognised in the income statement.

0.2
-

(0.7)

(0.5)

(0.8)
(0.3)
(1.5)

(2.6)

2007
£m

2008
£m

-
-

(0.7)

(0.7)

2007
£m

2008
£m

2008
£m

2007
£m

Assets Liabilities Net

(0.8)
(0.3)
(1.5)

(2.6)

-
-
-

-

0.2
-
-

0.2

10.2
93.4

103.6

10.2
92.2

102.4

Fair 
value

£m

Carrying
amount

£m

13.7
125.2

138.9

13.7
127.5

141.2

Fair 
value

£m

Carrying
amount

£m

2008 2007

81.4
19.2
29.5
11.1

141.2

70.0

19.8

7.7

4.9

102.4

71.2
16.1

-
-

87.3

67.8

13.5

-

-

81.3

Total
£m

Fixed
rate
£m

10.2
3.1

29.5
11.1

53.9

2.2

6.3

7.7

4.9

21.1

Floating
rate
£m
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Currency swaps
The currency swap is in respect of US dollars that have been swapped into Euros, as detailed in note 22. The post-tax loss of £0.2m (2007: £nil) is

recognised in the hedging reserve in shareholders' equity.

Interest rate swaps
The interest on US bank loans of $40.0m has been fixed by means of a US dollar denominated interest rate swap at an effective rate of 6.37%

(including variable bank margin) and designated as a hedge. The post-tax loss of £0.6m (2007: £0.1m) is recognised in the hedging reserve in

shareholders’ equity.

Hedge of net investments in foreign currencies
Group financial instruments denominated in Euros of £8.1m (2007: £6.8m) and Australian dollars of £5.2m (2007: £0.4m) are designated as hedges

of the net investment in overseas subsidiaries. The loss on translation to sterling at the year end of £1.4m (2007: gain of £0.5m) is recognised in the

hedging reserve in shareholders’ equity.

24. Trade and other payables

Current
Trade payables 

Other taxes and social security

Other payables

Accruals and deferred income

Non-current
Accruals and deferred income

Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing. There is no material difference between the carrying amount and fair value of trade and other payables.

25. Post-retirement benefits
The Group operates a number of defined benefit post-retirement schemes for qualifying employees in operations around the world. The assets of

the schemes are held in separate trustee administered funds. The cost of the schemes are assessed in accordance with the advice of independent

qualified actuaries using the projected unit method. 

The principal scheme is the Fenner Pension Scheme which is based in the UK. The most recent triennial valuation of the Fenner Pension Scheme,

whilst yet to be formally completed, was carried out with an effective date of 31 March 2008. The actuarial valuations for all schemes were updated

as at 31 August 2008 by independent qualified actuaries.

The principal assumptions used to determine the assets and liabilities of the schemes are as follows:

Discount rate

Inflation rate

Rate of increase in salaries

Rate of increase in pensions in payment subject to Limited Price Indexation increases:

- capped at 5.0%

- capped at 2.5%

Rate of increase for deferred pensioners subject to statutory revaluation

Expected rate of return on assets of the scheme:

- Equities

- Bonds

- Cash 

The principal assumptions of the schemes are determined using appropriate expert advice and available market data. The assumptions of the

overseas schemes are given as a range of values in respect of the individual schemes. The range of values is a consequence of the diversity of

territories in which the Group operates defined benefit schemes.

5.1% - 6.0%
2.0% - 2.5%
3.0% - 4.5%

-
-
-

7.0% - 8.0%
5.4% - 7.0%

-

5.7%
3.1%
4.1%

3.0%
2.2%
3.1%

7.9%
4.9%
5.8%

6.3%
3.7%
4.7%

3.4%
2.3%
3.7%

7.9%
5.0%
5.0%

Overseas
schemes

UK
scheme

5.5% - 6.4%
2.3% - 2.5%
2.3% - 4.5%

-
-
-

7.0% - 8.0%
6.4% - 7.0%

-

Overseas
schemes

UK
scheme

2008 2007

45.4
1.8
5.8

22.1

75.1

-

61.4
2.5
9.0

26.9

99.8

0.5

2007
£m

2008
£m



Notes to the Group financial statements continued

25. Post-retirement benefits continued

The assumptions relating to longevity underlying the pension liabilities at the balance sheet date are based on standard actuarial mortality tables,

with adjustments to reflect the schemes' actual mortality experience. For the Fenner Pension Scheme, an increased allowance for future

improvement in longevity has also been made. The assumptions used for the remaining life expectancy are as follows:

Current pensioner at age 65:

- men

- women

Future pensioner at age 65:

- men

- women

The fair value of assets of the schemes are as follows:

Equity

Bonds

Cash

Amounts charged/(credited) to the income statement are as follows: 

Current service cost

Interest on obligations

Expected return on assets of the schemes

The charge for the year is classified within administrative expenses in the consolidated income statement.  

The actual return on assets of the schemes is a loss of £8.2m (2007: gain of £8.9m).

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full in the statement of recognised income and expense in the period in which they are incurred. These

amounted to a loss of £7.4m (2007: gain of £12.0m).

Amounts recognised as retirement benefit obligations in the balance sheet are as follows:

Present value of obligations 

Fair value of assets of the schemes 

The present value of obligations includes £1.5m (2007: £1.5m) in respect of schemes that are wholly unfunded.

1.4
7.2

(7.8)

0.8

0.4
0.8

(0.7)

0.5

Total
£m

Overseas
schemes

£m

1.0
6.4

(7.1)

0.3

UK
scheme

£m

2007

(138.9)
124.8

(14.1)

(17.2)
16.2

(1.0)

(135.3)
116.2

(19.1)

Total
£m

Overseas
schemes

£m

(121.7)
108.6

(13.1)

UK
scheme

£m
Total

£m

(116.5)
101.0

(15.5)

(18.8)
15.2

(3.6)

Overseas
schemes

£m

UK
scheme

£m

2008 2007

1.2
7.7

(8.7)

0.2

Total
£m

0.9
6.7

(7.8)

(0.2)

0.3
1.0

(0.9)

0.4

Overseas
schemes

£m

UK
scheme

£m

2008

85.9
28.3
10.6

124.8

3.4
12.8

-

16.2

74.8
28.3
13.1

116.2

Total
£m

Overseas
schemes

£m

82.5
15.5
10.6

108.6

UK
scheme

£m
Total

£m

71.7
16.2
13.1

101.0

3.1
12.1

-

15.2

Overseas
schemes

£m

UK
scheme

£m

2008 2007

16 - 18 years
20 - 21 years

16 - 18 years
20 - 21 years

19 years
22 years

20 years
23 years

19 years
23 years

20 years
24 years

Overseas
schemes

UK
scheme

17 - 18 years
21 years

17 - 18 years
21 years

Overseas
schemes

UK
scheme

2008 2007

6 4    F e n n e r  P L C



F e n n e r  P L C    6 5

Movements in the present value of obligations are as follows:

At start of prior year

Current service cost

Interest on obligations

Actuarial (gains)/losses

Employee contributions

Benefits paid

Disposal of joint venture

Exchange differences

At start of year

Current service cost

Interest on obligations

Actuarial gains

Employee contributions

Benefits paid

Exchange differences

At end of year

Movements in the fair value of assets of the schemes are as follows:

At start of prior year

Expected return on assets of the schemes

Actuarial gains

Employer contributions

Employee contributions

Benefits paid

Disposal of joint venture

At start of year

Expected return on assets of the schemes

Actuarial losses

Employer contributions

Employee contributions

Benefits paid

Exchange differences

At end of year

Experience adjustments are as follows:

Present value of obligations

Fair value of assets of the schemes

Deficit in the schemes

Experience gains/(losses) on liabilities of the schemes

Experience (losses)/gains on assets of the schemes

The Group expects to contribute approximately £4.1m to its defined benefit schemes in the year ending 31 August 2009.

117.8

7.8

1.1

3.5

0.7

(5.1)

(1.0)

124.8

8.7

(16.9)

2.9

0.7

(6.5)

2.5

116.2

15.3

0.7

-

1.6

0.3

(0.7)

(1.0)

16.2

0.9

(4.7)

1.0

0.3

(1.0)

2.5

15.2

Total
£m

Overseas
schemes

£m

102.5

7.1

1.1

1.9

0.4

(4.4)

-

108.6

7.8

(12.2)

1.9

0.4

(5.5)

-

101.0

UK
scheme

£m

(146.3)
105.7

(40.6)

(0.3)
11.4

2005
£m

(146.9)
117.8

(29.1)

1.5
6.0

2006
£m

(138.9)
124.8

(14.1)

(0.7)
1.1

2007
£m

(135.3)
116.2

(19.1)

3.6
(16.9)

2008
£m

146.9

1.4

7.2

(10.9)

0.7

(5.1)

(1.2)

(0.1)

138.9

1.2

7.7

(9.5)

0.7

(6.5)

2.8

135.3

17.5

0.4

0.8

0.2

0.3

(0.7)

(1.2)

(0.1)

17.2

0.3

1.0

(1.8)

0.3

(1.0)

2.8

18.8

Total
£m

Overseas
schemes

£m

129.4

1.0

6.4

(11.1)

0.4

(4.4)

-

-

121.7

0.9

6.7

(7.7)

0.4

(5.5)

-

116.5

UK
scheme

£m



Notes to the Group financial statements continued

26. Share-based payments
The Group operates three equity-settled share-based payment schemes and two cash-settled schemes. The recognition and measurement

principles of IFRS 2 have not been applied to equity instruments that were granted on or prior to 7 November 2002 that had not vested by 1

January 2005, in accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS 1.

a) Fenner PLC 1996 Executive Share Option Scheme
Share options were granted to certain employees within the Group.  The exercise price of options granted is set at the market price of the shares on

the date of the grant. The vesting period is generally 3 years. If the options remain unexercised after a period of 10 years from the date of the grant

the options expire. Options can only be exercised upon satisfaction of performance criteria. This requires that the overall growth of the Group’s

earnings per share before amortisation of intangible assets acquired and exceptional items over a consecutive three year period exceeds the

growth in the UK Retail Price Index over the same period by at least 9%. The last grant of shares under the Executive Share Option Scheme was

made in November 2004.

Details of movements in outstanding share options are as follows:

At start of prior year

Forfeited during the year

Exercised during the year

At start of year

Forfeited during the year

Exercised during the year

At end of year

At 31 August 2008, 51,015 (2007: 132,234) options were exercisable. During the year, the weighted average share price at the date of exercise was

239.0p.

The following share options were outstanding at 31 August 2008:

Dates exercisable

2006 to 2013

2007 to 2014

The weighted average contractual life of outstanding share options at 31 August 2008 is 5.6 years.

The above information includes share options granted before 7 November 2002.

The fair value of awards made under the Executive Share Option Scheme is measured using the Binomial option-pricing model. The following

assumptions were used for each set of outstanding options granted after 7 November 2002:

Share price at date of grant

Fair value of options granted

Exercise price

Expected volatility 

Expected life

Risk free rate

Expected dividend yield

Expected volatility is determined by reference to the historical volatility of the Company’s share price for a six year period prior to the grant date.

112.3

83.3

106.8

131.8

123.5

146.3

99.4

897,456

(30,609)

(637,685)

229,162

(40,812)

(137,335)

51,015

Weighted
average

exercise price
pence

Options
number

130.5p

28p

123.5p

27%

6 years

4.6%

4.5%

85.0p

13p

83.3p

27%

6 years

5.0%

7.6%

15 November
2004

10 November
2003

Grant date

83.31

123.49

30,609

20,406

51,015

Option price
pence

Options
number
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b) Long Term Share Incentive Plan 
Provisional allocations of shares were made to certain employees within the Group. The provisional allocation was made to each employee at the

start of a three year plan cycle and was based on a percentage of the basic annual salary of each employee. The awards are subject to the

satisfaction of performance criteria. The proportion of the provisional allocation of shares that is awarded is based on the Group’s total shareholder

return ("TSR") over the plan cycle compared to the TSR of the comparator group. The last provisional allocation of shares under the Long Term

Share Incentive Plan was made in November 2005.

Details of movements in provisional allocations under the Long Term Share Incentive Plan are as follows:

At start of prior year

Awarded during the year

Lapsed during the year

At start of year

Awarded during the year

Lapsed during the year

Forfeited during the year

At end of year

Shares awarded during the year included 34,670 of ordinary shares issued from shares held by the Employee Share Ownership Plan Trust.

The following provisional allocations were outstanding at 31 August 2008:

Date of provisional allocations

9 November 2005

The fair value of awards made under the Long Term Share Incentive Plan is measured using the Monte Carlo simulation approach. The following

assumptions were used for the provisional allocation made on 9 November 2005: 

Share price at date of provisional allocations

Fair value of shares awarded

Expected volatility 

Expected life

Risk free rate

Expected dividend yield

Expected volatility is determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Company’s share price for a three year period from the date of

provisional allocation.

Further details of the Long Term Share Incentive Plan can be found in the Board Remuneration Report on pages 27 to 33.

2,168,524

(915,033)

(5,061)

1,248,430

(269,411)

(356,639)

(92,444)

529,936

Shares
number

529,936

Shares
number

151.0p

52p

26%

3 years

4.8%

3.9%



26. Share-based payments continued

c) Performance Share Plan
Conditional awards of shares were made to certain employees within the Group. The conditional award is made to each employee at the start of a

three year performance period and is based on a percentage of the basic annual salary of each employee. The awards are subject to the

satisfaction of performance criteria. The proportion of the conditional awards of shares that are awarded is based on the Group’s TSR over the

performance period compared to the TSR of the comparator group.

Details of movements in conditional awards under the Performance Share Plan are as follows:

At start of prior year

Conditional awards during the year

At start of year

Conditional awards during the year

At end of year

The following conditional awards were outstanding at 31 August 2008:

Date of conditional awards

20 February 2007

12 February 2008

The fair value of awards made under the Performance Share Plan is measured using the Monte Carlo simulation approach. The following

assumptions were used for each set of conditional awards:

Share price at date of conditional awards

Fair value of shares awarded

Expected volatility 

Expected life

Risk free rate

Expected dividend yield

Expected volatility is determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Company’s share price for a three year period from the conditional award date.

Further details of the Performance Share Plan can be found in the Board Remuneration Report on pages 27 to 33.

d) Long Term Shadow Incentive Plan
Provisional allocations of notional shares were made to certain employees within the Group. The rules and performance criteria are the same as the

Long Term Share Incentive Plan above. Awards are settled in the form of cash. The last provisional allocation of notional shares under the Long

Term Shadow Incentive Plan was made in November 2005.

Details of movements in provisional allocations under the Long Term Shadow Incentive Plan are as follows:

At start of prior year

Forfeited during the year

At start of year

Forfeited during the year

At end of year

252,000

(20,000)

232,000

(8,000)

224,000

Notional
shares

number

-

427,864

427,864

417,802

845,666

Shares
number

427,864

417,802

845,666

Shares
number

246.0p

179p

28%

3 years

4.3%

2.5%

226.75p

101p

25%

3 years

5.3%

2.7%

12 February
2008

20 February
2007
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The following provisional allocations were outstanding at 31 August 2008:

Date of provisional allocations

9 November 2005

The fair value of awards made under the Long Term Shadow Incentive Plan is measured using the Monte Carlo simulation approach. The following

assumptions were used for the provisional allocations of notional shares on 9 November 2005:

Share price at valuation date

Fair value of shares awarded

Expected volatility 

Expected life

Risk free rate

Expected dividend yield

Expected volatility is determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Company’s share price for a three year period from the date of

provisional allocation.

e) Shadow Performance Share Plan
Conditional awards of notional shares were made to certain employees within the Group. The rules and performance criteria are the same as the

Performance Share Plan above. Awards are settled in the form of cash.

Details of movements in conditional awards under the Shadow Performance Share Plan are as follows:

At start of prior year

Conditional awards during the year

At start of year

Conditional awards during the year

Forfeited during the year

At end of year

The following conditional awards were outstanding at 31 August 2008:

Date of conditional awards

20 February 2007

12 February 2008

The fair value of awards made under the Shadow Performance Share Plan is measured using the Monte Carlo simulation approach. The following

assumptions were used for each set of conditional awards of notional shares:

Share price at valuation date

Fair value of shares awarded

Expected volatility 

Expected life

Risk free rate

Expected dividend yield

Expected volatility is determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Company’s share price for a three year period from the award date.

-

319,000

319,000

330,000

(24,000)

625,000

Notional
shares

number

224,000

Notional
shares

number

228.0p

112p

29%

3 years

4.5%

2.8%

303,000

322,000

625,000

Notional
shares

number

228.0p

125p

29%

3 years

4.5%

2.8%

228.0p

102p

29%

3 years

4.5%

2.8%

12 February
2008

20 February
2007
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26. Share-based payments continued

Liabilities included within trade and other payables in the balance sheet amounted to £0.2m (2007: £0.1m) in respect of the Long Term Shadow

Incentive Plan and £0.3m (2007: £0.1m) in respect of the Shadow Performance Share Plan. There are no liabilities in the balance sheet in respect of

the Fenner PLC 1996 Executive Share Option Scheme, the Long Term Share Incentive Plan or the Performance Share Plan.

27. Provisions
Movements in provisions are as follows:

At start of year

New provisions charged to income statement during the year

Provisions not required credited to income statement during the year

Provisions utilised during the year

Acquisition of businesses

Unwinding of discount

Exchange differences

At end of year

Provisions are analysed as follows:

Current

Non-current

Provisions represent the best estimate of obligations at the balance sheet date. The majority of the property and environmental provision relates to

onerous leases. Where the effect of the time value of money is material, pre-tax discount rates between 3.2% and 4.5%, which reflects the risks

associated with future cash flows, have been used. All provisions are expected to be utilised within 10 years.

28. Share capital

At start of prior year

Shares authorised/issued in the year

At start of year

Shares authorised/issued in the year

At end of year

During the year, 234,741 ordinary shares of 25p were issued to the trustees of the Fenner PLC 1992 Employee Share Ownership Plan Trust under

the Fenner Long Term Share Incentive Plan for a total consideration of £0.2m and 137,335 ordinary shares of 25p were issued under the Fenner

PLC 1996 Executive Share Option Scheme for a total consideration of £0.2m.

On 14 March 2008, the Group announced the placing of 15,657,910 new ordinary shares of 25p with institutional investors at 233p per share for a

consideration of £36.5m less costs of £1.1m. 

On 7 April 2008, 217,000 ordinary shares of 25p were issued in connection with the acquisition of King Energy Services, Inc, representing a

consideration of £0.5m.

The Company has one class of ordinary shares which carry no right to fixed income.

6.9

0.9

(0.1)

(1.0)

8.1

0.3

0.9

16.0

-

-

-

-

8.1

0.1

0.7

8.9

Total
£m

Contingent 
and deferred
consideration

on acquisitions
£m

5.4

0.1

-

(0.7)

-

0.2

-

5.0

Property and 
environmental

£m

1.5

0.8

(0.1)

(0.3)

-

-

0.2

2.1

Restructuring
costs

£m

39.2

0.4

39.6

4.1

43.7

156,970,325

1,552,718

158,523,043

16,246,986

174,770,029

£mNumber

55.0

-

55.0

-

55.0

£m

220,000,000

-

220,000,000

-

220,000,000

Number

Authorised
Allotted, called up

and fully paid
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0.6
6.3

6.9

2007
£m

2008
£m



F e n n e r  P L C    7 1

29. Equity

At start of prior year

Total recognised income and expense for the year

Equity dividends paid

Dividends paid to minority shareholders

Shares issued in the year

Share-based payments

At start of year

Total recognised income and expense for the year

Equity dividends paid

Dividends paid to minority shareholders

Shares issued in the year

Share-based payments

At end of year

Included within retained earnings is a reserve for the Company’s own shares held by the Employee Share Ownership Plan Trust (ESOP) of £0.1m

(2007: £0.1m). The shares held by the ESOP may subsequently be awarded to employees under the Group’s share incentives schemes. At 

31 August 2008, the ESOP held 97,189 (2007: 131,859) of the Company’s shares.

The exchange reserve comprises foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations.

The hedging reserve comprises gains and losses on changes in the valuation of assets and liabilities designated as hedges. 

The other reserve relates to merger relief on the issue of shares in connection with the acquisition of Wellington Holdings plc on 20 May 2005.

Distributable reserves relate to amounts in the retained earnings reserve to the extent that profits are realised.

30. Contingent liabilities 
In the normal course of business the Group has given guarantees and counter indemnities in respect of commercial transactions.

The Group is involved as defendant in a number of potential and actual litigation cases in connection with its business, primarily in North America.

The directors believe that the likelihood of a material liability arising from these cases is remote.

In October 2004, the conveyor belting operations in Charlotte and Atlanta, USA received notification from the Anti Trust Division of the US

Department of Justice of their intention to enquire into possible anti trust violations by Fenner. Every co-operation has been given to date and will be

given as and when required in order to help expedite the process.

31. Operating lease commitments
Outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases fall due as follows:

Within one year

In the second to fifth years inclusive

After five years

Operating lease charges recognised in the income statement are shown in note 5.

1.4
1.5

-

2.9

1.8
2.2

-

4.0

2007
£m

2008
£m

2.0
8.1

26.5

36.6

3.1
10.1
27.6

40.8

2007
£m

2008
£m

OtherLand and Buildings

122.0

29.2

(9.5)

(0.1)

0.7

0.4

142.7

36.8

(9.9)

(0.1)

36.1

0.3

205.9

0.7

0.2

-

(0.1)

-

-

0.8

0.3

-

(0.1)

-

-

1.0

Total
equity

£m

Minority
interests

£m

1.1

-

-

-

-

-

1.1

-

-

-

-

-

1.1

Other
reserve

£m

-

0.4

-

-

-

-

0.4

(2.2)

-

-

-

-

(1.8)

Hedging
reserve

£m

(2.1)

(2.8)

-

-

-

-

(4.9)

18.9

-

-

-

-

14.0

Exchange
reserve

£m

33.5

31.4

(9.5)

-

(1.8)

0.4

54.0

19.8

(9.9)

-

(0.2)

0.3

64.0

Retained
earnings

£m

49.6

-

-

-

2.1

-

51.7

-

-

-

32.2

-

83.9

Share
premium

£m

39.2

-

-

-

0.4

-

39.6

-

-

-

4.1

-

43.7

Share
capital

£m



Notes to the Group financial statements continued

32. Related party transactions
Related parties to the Group comprise key management personnel and joint ventures, prior to the disposal of the Group's entire interest in joint

ventures in 2007.

Key management personnel 
Key management personnel comprise the Group’s executive and non-executive directors. Remuneration of executive and non-executive directors is

detailed in the Board Remuneration Report on pages 27 to 33. There were no other transactions with key management personnel. 

Joint ventures
There were no material transactions with joint ventures during the year (2007: £nil) and there were no amounts due to or from joint ventures at

31 August 2008 (2007: £nil).

33. Acquisitions
The Group completed the following acquisitions during the year:

Date Details

9 November 2007 Substantially all of the operating assets and liabilities of B-LOC for an initial cash consideration of £4.4m.

14 December 2007 Substantially all of the operating assets and liabilities of Spliceline for an initial cash consideration of £0.7m.

5 February 2008 The entire share capital of Prodesco, Inc and its subsidiary, Secant Medical, LLC, for an initial cash consideration of

£24.2m.

3 March 2008 Substantially all of the operating assets and liabilities of Winfield Industries, Inc for an initial cash consideration of £6.9m.

6 March 2008 The entire share capital of Northern Belting Specialists Pty Ltd for an initial cash consideration of £2.3m.

1 April 2008 Substantially all of the operating assets and liabilities of King Energy Services, Inc for an initial consideration of £2.9m.

This comprised cash of £2.4m and £0.5m satisfied by the issue of 217,000 ordinary shares of Fenner PLC, based on the

market price of Fenner PLC shares at the date of issue.

1 August 2008 Substantially all of the operating assets and liabilities of King Energy Services of Colorado, Inc for an initial cash

consideration of £3.5m.

From the respective dates of acquisition, these businesses contributed £18.5m to Group revenue and £2.4m to Group operating profit, after

deducting amortisation of intangible assets acquired and exceptional items of £1.7m.

If the acquisitions had occurred on 1 September 2007, it is estimated that Group revenue would have been £454.4m and Group operating profit

would have been £46.4m, after deducting amortisation of intangible assets acquired and exceptional items of £6.6m. These amounts have been

calculated by adjusting the results of the acquired businesses to reflect the effect of the Group’s accounting policies as if they had been in effect

from 1 September 2007. 
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Details of the aggregate assets and liabilities acquired are given below.

Intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment

Inventories

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other payables

Current taxation

Deferred taxation

Total net assets acquired

Intangible assets acquired

Goodwill on acquisition

Total consideration

Contingent and deferred consideration

Share capital issued

Cash consideration paid

Cash and cash equivalents acquired

Cash paid per cash flow statement

The information above has been presented in aggregate because the individual acquisitions are not material.

Cash paid per the cash flow statement includes acquisition expenses of £1.7m.

The fair value adjustments for accounting policy alignment reflect the provisional restatement of assets and liabilities in accordance with the Group’s

accounting policies.

Goodwill arising on acquisition principally represents the speed to market, workforce and anticipated synergies gained through the acquisitions.

34. Disposals
On 11 July 2008, the Group disposed of substantially all of the operating assets and liabilities of its lightweight PVC conveyor belting operation held

within Fenner Dunlop (Charlotte), Inc.

Details of the assets and liabilities disposed of are given below.

Property, plant and equipment

Inventories

Total net assets disposed

Consideration received 

Disposal costs

Profit on disposal per income statement

Cash received per the cash flow statement comprises consideration received of £5.0m less £0.2m of disposal costs.

(1.7)

(2.4)

(4.1)

5.0

(0.2)

0.7

£m

-
3.6
3.8
0.2
5.0

(2.1)
(0.1)
0.2

10.6
30.4
13.7

54.7
(8.1)
(0.5)

46.1
(0.2)

45.9

Provisional
fair value

£m

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

0.2

0.2

Other
items

£m

(1.6)
(0.2)
(0.5)

-
-

(0.1)
-
-

(2.4)

Accounting
policy

alignment
£m

1.6
3.8
4.3
0.2
5.0

(2.0)
(0.1)

-

12.8

Book
value

£m



35. Principal subsidiary undertakings
The principal subsidiary undertakings at 31 August 2008 were as follows:

Company

J H Fenner & Co Limited

Fenner International Limited

James Dawson & Son Limited

Hallite Seals International Limited

Hallite (France) Limited

FAST Group Houston, Inc (formerly known as CDI Seals, Inc)

Hallite Seals Americas, Inc 

Fenner, Inc

Prodesco, Inc

Secant Medical, LLC

Fenner Precision, Inc

Fenner Dunlop Conveyor Systems and Services, Inc

Fenner Dunlop (Atlanta), Inc

Fenner Dunlop (Port Clinton), Inc

Fenner Dunlop (Toledo), LLC

Fenner Dunlop (Bracebridge), Inc

Hallite Seals (Canada) Limited

Enerka Apex Belting Pty Limited

Fenner (Australia) Pty Limited

rEscan International Pty Limited

Hallite Seals Australia Pty Limited

Northern Belting Specialists Pty Ltd

Fenner Conveyor Belting (South Africa) (Pty) Limited

Shanghai Fenner Conveyor Belting Co. Limited

Dawson Polymer Products (Shanghai) Co. Limited

Fenner Sealing Technologies (Shanghai) Co. Limited

Dunlop Conveyor Belting (Shanghai) Co. Limited

Fenner Dunlop BV

Fenner Conveyor Belting Private Limited

Dichtelemente Hallite GmbH

Hallite Italia Srl

*Held directly by Fenner PLC

The above undertakings are engaged in manufacturing and distribution with the exception of Fenner International Limited which is an investment company.

All subsidiary undertakings are consolidated within the Group financial statements. 

A full list of Group companies is filed with the annual return to the Registrar of Companies.

36. Interest in joint ventures
The Group held a 50% interest in the ordinary shares of KSB Pumps (SA) (Pty) Limited, incorporated in South Africa, until the entire interest was sold

on 2 January 2007. The interest was recognised in the Group financial statements using the proportionate consolidation method. 

Amounts included in the Group’s consolidated income statement are as follows:

Revenue

Cost of sales

Distribution costs

Administrative expenses

Taxation

Profit for the year

2.9
(1.7)
(0.5)
(0.3)
(0.1)

0.3

-
-
-
-
-

-

2007
£m

2008
£m

Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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75

85

100

100

100

100

100

100

100
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United Kingdom
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USA

USA

USA
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Canada
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Australia

Australia

Australia

Australia
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China
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Italy

Proportion of issued
ordinary shares held

Country of
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37. Post balance sheet events
On 1 October 2008, the Group completed the acquisition of substantially all of the operating assets and liabilities of the Conveyor Services

Corporation group of companies, including Classic Conveyor Components Corporation and Loadout Services, together with a majority interest in the

share capital of Conveyor Services, SA, registered in Chile. The initial cash consideration was £25.8m with subsequent contingent and deferred

consideration estimated at £20.8m, before any adjustments relating to working capital. On 31 October 2008, the Group completed the acquisition of

the entire share capital of Solid Systems Engineering, LLC. The initial cash consideration was £5.2m with subsequent contingent deferred

consideration estimated at £1.2m, before any adjustments relating to working capital. 

The book value of assets and liabilities acquired are subject to the working capital adjustments, which are currently being evaluated. Consequently,

the book values acquired are not currently available. The identification of the accounting policy alignment adjustments and the valuation of intangible

assets acquired are also currently being undertaken.



Independent Auditors' Report to the members of Fenner PLC

We have audited the parent company financial statements of Fenner PLC for the year ended 31 August 2008 which comprise the Company balance

sheet and the related notes. These parent company financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein. We

have also audited the information in the Board Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited.

We have reported separately on the Group financial statements of Fenner PLC for the year ended 31 August 2008.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the Board Remuneration Report and the parent company financial statements in

accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) are set out

in the Corporate Governance statement on page 21.

Our responsibility is to audit the parent company financial statements and the part of the Board Remuneration Report to be audited in accordance

with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). This Report, including the opinion, has

been prepared for and only for the Company’s members as a body in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and for no other

purpose.  We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is

shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the parent company financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the parent company

financial statements and the part of the Board Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies

Act 1985. We report to you whether, in our opinion, the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the parent company financial

statements. 

In addition, we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the information and

explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited parent company financial

statements. The other information comprises only the Directors’ Report, the Financial Highlights, the Chairman’s Statement, the Business Review, the

Corporate Governance statement, the Corporate Responsibility Report and the unaudited part of the Board Remuneration Report. We consider the

implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the parent company financial

statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit

includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the parent company financial statements and the part

of the Board Remuneration Report to be audited. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by the directors

in the preparation of the parent company financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Company’s

circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us

with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the parent company financial statements and the part of the Board Remuneration Report

to be audited are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated

the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the parent company financial statements and the part of the Board Remuneration Report

to be audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:

- the parent company financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting

Practice, of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 August 2008;

- the parent company financial statements and the part of the Board Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly prepared in

accordance with the Companies Act 1985; and

- the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the parent company financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors, Hull

12 November 2008
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Company balance sheet
at 31 August 2008

Fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets

Investments

Current assets
Debtors

Cash at bank and in hand

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities
Provisions for liabilities

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital

Share premium 

Revaluation reserve

Other reserve

Profit and loss account

Shareholders' funds

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 12 November 2008 and signed on its behalf by:

C I Cooke R J Perry

Chairman Group Finance Director

3.9
77.1

81.0

77.6
12.6

90.2
(20.5)

69.7

150.7
(0.4)

150.3

39.6
51.7

1.4
11.5
46.1

150.3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

10

10

10

11

3.9
77.1

81.0

105.0
13.2

118.2
(13.9)

104.3

185.3
(0.3)

185.0

43.7
83.9

1.4
11.5
44.5

185.0

2007
£m

2008
£mNotes



Notes to the Company financial statements

1. Significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation
The Company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards in the United Kingdom and under the

historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of certain fixed assets. 

In accordance with the exemptions allowed by Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, the Company has not presented its own profit and loss

account.

In accordance with the exemptions allowed by FRS 1 ‘Cash Flow Statements’, the Company has not presented a cash flow statement.

The Company has taken advantage of the exemptions in FRS8 ‘Related Party Transactions’ not to disclose related party transactions with other

members of the Fenner PLC Group.

The principal accounting policies adopted for the year ended 31 August 2008, which have been consistently applied, are set out below.

Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date,

monetary assets and liabilities are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost

are not retranslated. Exchange differences arising on the settlement and retranslation of monetary items are recognised in the profit and loss

account in the period.

Share-based payments
The Company operates equity-settled share schemes for certain employees across the Fenner PLC Group. The cost of share-based payments is

measured at fair value at the date of grant, excluding the effect of non market-based vesting conditions. The cost is recognised in the profit and

loss account on a straight-line basis over the vesting period with the corresponding amount credited to equity, based on an estimate of the number

of shares that will eventually vest. The fair values are measured using the Binomial option-pricing model and the Monte Carlo simulation approach.

Taxation
Taxation expense represents the sum of the current tax payable and deferred tax.

Current tax is the tax expected to be payable on taxable profit for the period using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the

balance sheet date, together with any adjustments in respect of previous years. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the profit and loss

account because it excludes items of income or expense that are not taxable or deductible or are taxable or deductible in other years.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the balance sheet date. It is determined using

the average tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which the timing differences are expected to reverse. Timing differences are

differences between taxable profits and results as stated in the financial statements that arise from the inclusion of gains and losses in tax

assessments in periods different from those in which they are recognised in the financial statements. Deferred tax assets are recognised only when

it can be regarded as more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal of the underlying timing differences

can be deducted. Deferred tax is not recognised when fixed assets are revalued unless by the balance sheet date there is a binding agreement to

sell the revalued asset. Deferred tax is measured on a non-discounted basis.

Dividends
Dividends proposed by the Board are recognised in the financial statements when they have been approved by shareholders at the Annual General

Meeting. Interim dividends are recognised when they are paid. 
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Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. In prior years certain

freehold and leasehold properties have been revalued by independent qualified professional valuers on the basis of open market value for their

existing use. As permitted by FRS 15 ‘Tangible Fixed Assets’ these valuations have been frozen.

Freehold land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is recognised in the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over the

estimated useful life of the asset. Estimated useful lives most widely applied are as follows:

Freehold buildings 40 years

Leasehold buildings Unexpired term of lease

Plant, machinery and equipment 3-10 years

Investments
Investments are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated impairment losses.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that the Company will be

required to settle that obligation. Provisions are measured at the directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the

balance sheet date, and are discounted to present value where the effect is material. 

2. Auditors’ remuneration
There was no auditors' remuneration in the year (2007: £nil) as their costs have been borne by other Group undertakings.

3. Employees
The average number of employees during the year is 3 (2007: 3). This comprises the Chairman and non-executive directors. Details of employee

costs are included in the Board Remuneration Report on pages 27 to 33.

4. Tangible fixed assets

Cost or valuation:
At start of year

Additions

At end of year

Accumulated depreciation:
At start of year

Charge for the year

At end of year

Net book value:
At end of year

At start of year

Cost or valuation comprises:
Cost

Valuation:

- 1997

- 1998

- 1999

The historical cost of tangible fixed assets is £4.4m (2007: £4.4m) with accumulated depreciation of £1.9m (2007: £1.9m).

Freehold land and buildings includes land at a cost or valuation of £1.7m (2007: £1.7m) which is not subject to depreciation.

5.0

0.1

5.1

1.1

0.1

1.2

3.9

3.9

1.0

0.4

1.2

2.5

5.1

Freehold
property

£m



5. Investments 

Cost:
At start of year and at end of year

Accumulated impairment losses:
At start of year and at end of year

Net book value:
At start of year and at end of year

The carrying value of investments is reviewed annually. Forecast cash flows are discounted using the Group’s pre-tax weighted average cost of

capital of 10.4%. Cash flows are projected for one year using appropriate annual growth rates.

Details of the principal subsidiary undertakings can be found in note 35 of the Notes to the Group financial statements.

6. Debtors

Amounts due from Group undertakings

Other debtors

7. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Amounts due to Group undertakings

Current taxation

Group relief

Accruals and deferred income

8. Provisions for liabilities

At start of year 

Credited to profit and loss account

At end of year

Deferred tax liabilities are all in respect of accelerated tax depreciation.

192.7

115.6

77.1

Subsidiary
undertakings

£m

77.3
0.3

77.6

104.7
0.3

105.0

2007
£m

2008
£m

19.0
0.3
1.1
0.1

20.5

12.0
0.7
0.8
0.4

13.9

2007
£m

2008
£m

0.4

(0.1)

0.3

Deferred 
taxation

£m
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9. Share capital

At start of year

Shares authorised/issued in the year

At end of year

During the year, 234,741 ordinary shares of 25p were issued to the trustees of the Fenner PLC 1992 Employee Share Ownership Plan Trust under

the Fenner Long Term Share Incentive Plan for a total consideration of £0.2m and 137,335 ordinary shares of 25p were issued under the Fenner

PLC 1996 Executive Share Option Scheme for a total consideration of £0.2m.

On 14 March 2008, the Group announced the placing of 15,657,910 new ordinary shares of 25p with institutional investors at 233p per share for a

consideration of £36.5m less costs of £1.1m. 

On 7 April 2008, 217,000 ordinary shares of 25p were issued in connection with the Group's acquisition of King Energy Services, Inc, representing a

consideration of £0.5m.

The Company has one class of ordinary shares which carry no right to fixed income.

10. Reserves 

At start of year

Profit for the year

Equity dividends paid

Shares issued in the year

Share-based payments

At end of year

Included within retained earnings is a reserve for the Company’s own shares held by the Employee Share Ownership Plan Trust (ESOP) of £0.1m

(2007: £0.1m). The shares held by the ESOP may subsequently be awarded to employees under the Group’s share incentives schemes. At

31 August 2008, the ESOP held 97,189 (2007: 131,859) of the Company’s shares.

11. Reconciliation of movement in shareholders’ funds

Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders

Equity dividends paid

Shares issued in the year

Share-based payments

Movement in shareholders’ funds in the year
Shareholders’ funds at start of year

Shareholders’ funds at end of year

12. Contingent liabilities
The Company has guaranteed the borrowings of certain subsidiary undertakings. At 31 August 2008, these borrowings amounted to £140.1m

(2007: £102.0m).

13. Share-based payments 
The Company operates three equity-settled share-based payment schemes across the Fenner PLC Group. The recognition and measurement

principles of FRS 20 ‘Share-based Payment’ have not been applied to equity instruments that were granted on or prior to 7 November 2002 that had

not vested by 1 January 2005, in accordance with the transitional provisions of that standard. 

Details of the Company’s share-based payments can be found in note 26 of the Notes to the Group financial statements.

39.6

4.1

43.7

£m

158,523,043

16,246,986

174,770,029

Number

55.0

-

55.0

£m

220,000,000

-

220,000,000

Number

46.1

8.2

(9.9)

(0.2)

0.3

44.5

Profit and
loss account

£m

11.5

-

-

-

-

11.5

Other 
reserve

£m

1.4

-

-

-

-

1.4

Revaluation
reserve

£m

51.7

-

-

32.2

-

83.9

Share
premium

£m

Authorised
Allotted, called up

and fully paid

8.1
(9.5)
2.3
0.4

1.3
149.0

150.3

8.2
(9.9)
36.1

0.3

34.7
150.3

185.0
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£m
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Five year summary of the Group

Revenue

Operating profit before amortisation of intangible assets 

acquired and exceptional items

Amortisation of intangible assets acquired

Exceptional items

Operating profit

Net finance costs

Share of result of associate

Profit on disposal or termination of operations

Profit before taxation

Taxation

Profit for the year

Earnings per share:

Adjusted – before amortisation of intangible assets 

acquired and exceptional items

Basic

Equity dividends

Dividends per ordinary share*

Capital expenditure

Total equity

Net Debt

Gearing

Average number of employees (number)

*Dividends per ordinary share are stated in respect of the period to which the dividends relate. Under IFRS this is not the same as the period in

which the dividends are recognised in the financial statements.

Where applicable, 2004 has been restated following the adoption of UITF Abstract 28 ‘Accounting for ESOP Trusts’ and the discounted share

placement in 2004 and the placing and open offer in 2005.
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0.7
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(3.1)

3.3

7.7p

2.2p

6.3

5.825p

7.9
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-
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-
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-
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(0.6)
(0.2)

38.2
(4.6)

-
-

33.6
(9.7)

23.9

15.1p
15.0p

9.5
6.225p

32.0

142.7

(36.3)

25.4%

3,663
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(2.1)
(3.4)

43.8
(7.5)

-
-

36.3
(10.4)
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17.5p
15.5p

9.9
6.6p
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(97.6)
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Fenner, Fenner Drives, Hallite, BTL, Fenaplast and Powertwist are Registered Trademarks of the Fenner Group. 

CDI, T-Max and SigmaSeal are trademarks of the Fenner Group.

KSB is a Registered Trademark of the KSB Group.

The McCloskey graph is reproduced with the permission of The McCloskey Group Limited.

Annual General Meeting

The 72nd Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at Marlborough Room, Oxford & Cambridge Club, Pall Mall, London

SW1Y 5HD, on 14 January 2009 at 10.30 am when the following business will be proposed:

Ordinary Business

1 To receive the Directors’ Report and financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 August 2008 together with the 

Independent Auditors’ Report.

2 To approve the Board Remuneration Report contained in the Annual Report for 2008.

3 To declare a dividend.

4 To re-elect director.

5 To re-elect director.

6 To re-elect director.

7 To re-appoint the auditors. 

8 To authorise the directors to determine the auditors’ remuneration.

Special Business

9 To authorise the directors to allot shares.

10 To empower the directors to allot shares for cash.

11 To authorise the Company to buy back its own shares.

12 To adopt new set of Articles of Association.

Note

This is a summary of the Notice of Meeting and shareholders should refer to the accompanying document which contains the full text of

the Notice of Meeting together with an explanatory letter from the Chairman of the Company.

Advisors

Registrars

Capita Registrars, Huddersfield

Principal Solicitors

Nabarro, London

Rollits, Hull

Shumaker, Loop & Kendrick, Toledo, USA

Independent Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Hull

Brokers

RBS Hoare Govett, London

Principal Bankers

Barclays Bank PLC, Leeds

Lloyds TSB Bank plc, Leeds

Bank of Scotland plc, Manchester

Wachovia Bank NA, Charlotte, USA

National Australia Bank Limited, Melbourne, Australia

Investment Bankers

N.M. Rothschild & Sons Limited, Leeds

Financial Calendar 

Annual General Meeting – 14 January 2009

Half Year End – 28 February 2009

Interim Results – April 2009

Year End – 31 August 2009

Preliminary Results – November 2009







Registered office:
Hesslewood Country
Office Park, Hessle,
East Yorkshire, HU13 0PW,
United Kingdom
Tel: +44 (0)1482 626500
Fax: +44 (0)1482 626512
Registered Number:
329377
Website: www.fenner.com

USA

ATLANTA
Tel: (1) 404 294 5272
Fax: (1) 404 296 5165
www.fennerdunlopamericas.com

PORT CLINTON
Tel: (1) 419 635 2191
Fax: (1) 419 635 2552
www.fennerdunlopamericas.com

TOLEDO
Tel: (1) 419 534 5300
Fax: (1) 419 531 6284
www.fennerdunlopamericas.com

MANHEIM
Tel: (1) 717 665 2421
Fax: (1) 717 665 2649
www.fennerdrives.com

Tel: (1) 800 327 2288
Fax: (1) 717 664 8287
www.fennerprecision.com

BUFFALO
Tel: (1) 716 833 6900
Fax: (1) 716 833 9405
www.fennerprecision.com

PERKASIE
Tel: (1) 215 257 6566
Fax: (1) 215 453 1584
www.prodesco.com

Tel: (1) 215 257 8680
Fax: (1) 215 257 8875
www.secantmedical.com

DETROIT
Tel: (1) 248 362 0170
Fax: (1) 248 362 4246
www.hallite.com

HOUSTON - CDI
Tel: (1) 281 446 6662
Fax: (1) 281 446 7034
www.fast-houston.com

HOUSTON - EGC
Tel: (1) 281 774 6100
Fax: (1) 281 774 6219 
www.fast-houston.com

CANADA

BRACEBRIDGE
Tel: (1) 705 645 4431
Fax: (1) 705 645 3112
www.scandura.net

TORONTO
Tel: (1) 416 675 2505
Fax: (1) 416 675 4341
www.hallite.com

BRAZIL

SAO PAULO
Tel: (55) 19 3523 1859
Fax: (55) 19 3532 4805
www.halliteseals.com.br

CHILE

ANTOFAGASTA
Tel: (56) 55 236439
Fax: (56) 55 297792
www.fennerdunlopamericas.com

UNITED KINGDOM

HULL
Tel: (44) 1482 781234
Fax: (44) 1482 785438
www.fennerdunlopeurope.com

LINCOLN
Tel: (44) 1522 781800
Fax: (44) 1522 510029
www.james-dawson.com

Tel: (44) 1522 781800
Fax: (44) 1522 510029
www.fennerprecision.com

LEEDS
Tel: (44) 113 249 3486
Fax: (44) 113 248 9656
www.fennerdrives.com

HAMPTON
Tel: (44) 20 8941 2244
Fax: (44) 20 8783 1669
www.hallite.com

NETHERLANDS

DRACHTEN
Tel: (31) 512 585 555
Fax: (31) 512 585 511
www.dunlopconveyorbelting.com

GERMANY

HAMBURG
Tel: (49) 40 73 47 480
Fax: (49) 40 73 47 48 49
www.hallite.com

FRANCE

PARIS
Tel: (33) 1 3055 3903
Fax: (33) 1 3054 6274
www.dunlopconveyorbelting.com

Tel: (33) 1 4377 8550
Fax: (33) 1 4377 9393
www.hallite.com

SPAIN

BARCELONA
Tel: (34) 9 3805 5446
Fax: (34) 9 3805 4269
www.dunlopconveyorbelting.com

POLAND

KATOWICE
Tel: (48) 32 731 59 00
Fax: (48) 32 731 5901
www.fennerdunlopeurope.com

ITALY

LIVORNO
Tel: (39) 0586 428287
Fax: (39) 0586 429845
www.hallite.com

RUSSIA

MOSCOW
Tel: (7) 495 223 6718
Fax: (7) 495 223 6719
www.dunlopconveyorbelting.com

AUSTRALIA

MELBOURNE
Tel: (61) 3 9680 4500
Fax: (61) 3 9689 9191
www.fennerdunlop.com.au

SYDNEY
Tel: (61) 2 9620 7300
Fax: (61) 2 9620 7400
www.hallite.com

CHINA

SHANGHAI
Tel: (86) 21 599 369 89
Fax: (86) 21 599 367 34
www.fennerdunlop.com/shanghai

Tel: (86) 21 599 369 89
Fax: (86) 21 599 367 34
www.james-dawson.com

Tel: (86) 21 599 389 69
Fax: (86) 21 599 367 34
www.hallite.com

INDIA

MADURAI
Tel: (91) 452 2464201
Fax: (91) 452 2464204
www.fennerdunlopindia.com

SOUTH AFRICA

JOHANNESBURG
Tel: (27) 11 974 1902
Fax: (27) 11 974 1900
www.fenner.co.za


